Copy Authorization

In presenting this dissertation in partial fulfillment of the requirement for an advanced degree at the University of Houston, I agree that the Library shall make it freely available for inspection. I further state that permission for extensive copying of my dissertation for scholarly purposes may be granted by my major advisor, Dean of my academic division, or by the University Librarian. It is understood that any copying or publication of this dissertation for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Signed: _____

(Aisha Vadhariya)

Dated: 07-30-2019

Patterns of Lipid Lowering Therapy, Adherence and Up-titration in Older Adults

By

Aisha Vadhariya

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN PHARMACEUTICAL HEALTH OUTCOMES AND POLICY

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

August 2019

Patterns of Lipid Lowering Therapy, Adherence and Up-titration in

Older Adults

To the Faculty of the University of Houston, College of Pharmacy:

The members of the committee appointed to examine the dissertation of Aisha Vadhariya find it

satisfactory and recommend that it be accepted on **07 June 2019**

Committee Chair, Michael L. Johnson, PhD

Committee Member, Susan M. Abughosh, PhD

Committee Member, Kimberly K. Birtcher, PharmD, MS, BCPS, CDE, FNLA

Committee Member, Hua Chen, MD, PhD

Committee Member, Student advocate Manvi Sharma, RPh, MBA, PhD

Dean, F. Lamar Pritchard, PhD, RPh

DEDICATION

To the women in my life – my grandmother and mother for their unwavering support

Table of Contents

1	Pref	Preface1		
2	Exe	ecutive Summary 2		
	2.1	Background and rationale		
	2.1.1	Current guidelines for LDL-C management		
	2.1.2	2 Lipid lowering therapy management		
	2.1.3	3 The role of adherence in management of therapy		
	2.2	Objectives		
	2.3	Main findings		
	2.4	Summary		
	2.5	References		
3 Manuscript 1		nuscript 1		
	3.1	Title: Patterns of lipid lowering therapy use among older adults		
	3.2	Abstract 10		
	3.3	Introduction11		
	3.4	Methods		
	3.4.1	Study design and data description		
	3.4.2	2 Patient selection 14		
	3.4.3	3 Study measures		
	3.4.4	4 Statistical analysis		

	3.5	Results	17
	3.5.	1 Baseline LLT therapy use	18
	3.5.	2 Therapy modifications in the pre-index period	18
	3.5.	3 Therapy modifications in the follow-up period	18
	3.5.4	4 Subgroup analysis among patients aged 75 years and older	19
	3.6	Discussion	19
	3.7	Limitations	21
	3.8	Conclusion	22
	3.9	References	22
	3.10	Figures and tables	26
4	Ma	nuscript 2	32
	4.1	Title: Predictors of lipid lowering therapy up-titration among older adults	32
	4.2	Abstract	34
	4.3	Background	35
	4.4	Methods	37
	4.4.	1 Data source and study design	37
	4.4.	2 Study sample	37
	4.4.	3 Medication use and modification variables	38
	4.4.4	4 Independent variables as potential predictors of LLT up-titration	39
	4.4.	5 Statistical analysis	40
	4.5	Results	41

	4.6	Discussion	43		
	4.7	Limitations	45		
	4.8	Conclusion	46		
	4.9	References	46		
	4.10	Figures and Tables	49		
5	Ma	Manuscript 3			
	5.1	Title: Does lipid lowering therapy up-titration in older adults impact medication			
	adhere	nce?	54		
	5.2	Abstract	56		
	5.3	Introduction	57		
	5.4	Methods	60		
	5.4.	1 Data source and study design	60		
	5.4.	2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria and study groups	60		
5.4.3 Study measures5.4.4 Outcome		3 Study measures	61		
		4 Outcome	62		
	5.4.	5 Statistical analysis	62		
	5.5	Results	64		
	5.5.	1 Subgroup analyses	66		
	5.6	Discussion	67		
	5.7	Limitations	69		
	5.8	Conclusion	70		

U		ICIU51011	19
6	Cor	aducion	70
	5.10	Figures and Tables	73
	5.9	References	70

1 Preface

This project was conceptualized based on my prior work with statins over a period of 3 years (2015 -2018), which includes (a) understanding the utilization of statin and non-statin therapies based on the 2013 ACC/AHA guideline using the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS) data; (b) identifying patterns of adherence to statins using group-based trajectory modeling; (c) assessment of the risk of major adverse cardiovascular events in patients on statins with uncontrolled LDL-C values.

The proposal was developed in October 2018 and defended in December 2018. The data required for the study was provided by Cigna HealthSpring in Houston.

This document is organized starting with an Executive Summary which provides an overview of the entire study. The study had three aims each of which is written as a manuscript with the intent of submission for publication. The three manuscripts follow the summary with a conclusion section towards the end with the major takeaways from each aim.

2 Executive Summary

2.1 Background and rationale

Cardiovascular (CV) diseases are one of the leading causes of death in adults in the United States and are associated with a significant economic burden costing \$200 billion each year which includes the cost of lost productivity.^{1,2} Additionally the US population is aging and increasing age is a risk factor for CV events. In 2014, 14.5% of the US population was aged 65 or older.³ Much of the chronic disease burden results from known risk factors which need to be effectively addressed to improve health outcomes.⁴ High levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) has been associated with the development of CV diseases.⁵ Several classes of lipid lowering therapies (LLT) are available for reduction of LDL-C levels. Of the available LLT, statins have been the main stay of therapy for several decades and have been recommended in the clinical practice guidelines as the primary pharmacologic agents for LDL-C lowering. In recent years, new classes of drugs have become available in addition to existing agents now available as generic drugs, allowing more options for patient treatment.⁶ Results from recent clinical trials have also demonstrated that lower LDL-C values reduce the risk of CV events, with unprecedented mean values of 30 mg/dl achieved in these trials.^{7,8}

2.1.1 Current guidelines for LDL-C management

The 2018 American College of Cardiology and American Heart Association (ACC/AHA) guidelines identified patient groups that benefit from statin treatment; 1) secondary atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) prevention 2) primary severe hypercholesterolemia i.e. LDL-C \geq 190 mg/dl; 3) diabetes and age 40-75 years or 4) primary prevention of ASCVD. There is scarcity of evidence regarding the benefits of LLT in patients aged 75 years and above. For these patients, the ACC/AHA 2018 guidelines suggest continuing a statin if the patient is already tolerating a

statin, initiation of a moderate intensity statin for secondary prevention and not starting a statin for primary prevention based on patient risk, frailty and preferences.⁶ The publication of new trial results, the availability of new therapy and the increasing prevalence of older adults using LLT coupled with less evidence regarding benefit in patients >75 make it pertinent to understand the current patterns of use of LLT in older adults.

2.1.2 Lipid lowering therapy management

Patients on LLT may have treatment modifications due to reasons ranging from adverse events to goal achievement or even formulary changes. If a patient does not achieve goal LDL-C reduction, a physician may up-titrate i.e., increase the potency of the LLT with an intention to lower LDL-C incrementally. On the other hand, LLT may be down-titrated or switched due to various reasons including but not limited to poor tolerability, attainment of lipid goals, or introduction of a new therapy into the regimen. Failure to intensify LLT in patients who have not achieved the goal LDL-C reduction could result in suboptimal LDL-C lowering in patients. Often times, the term *clinical inertia* has been used to characterize the failure of providers to modify therapy based on guidelines when the patients have suboptimal responses from existing medications.^{9,10} Even though clinical inertia appears to be physician behavior, it may actually result from various physician, patient or system related factors. As the evidence generated since the publication of recent trials emphasizes up-titration of LLT to achieve lower LDL-C, an understanding of the factors that predict treatment up-titration in older adults is important. The focus again is older adults as they are more prone to adverse events from statins but are also at a higher risk of CV events.

2.1.3 The role of adherence in management of therapy

Medication adherence is an important factor which affects achievement of the maximal therapeutic effect from the LLT.^{11,12} Management of therapy via switching, medication up-titration or down-

titration may include a window of repeated exposure to the healthcare system. This could include lipid testing, physician and pharmacy visits allowing opportunities for patient education and clarification which in turn may positively impact a patient's adherence. Studies evaluating the relationship between medication adherence and treatment up-titration for chronic conditions have inconsistent results.¹³⁻¹⁵

Although there is some evidence that treatment modification can potentially affect adherence, there were no studies specifically assessing the association of LLT up-titration with change in medication adherence. Both up-titration and medication adherence however, affect the cumulative exposure of the patient to the drug which affects disease control and management. It is therefore important to determine what effect treatment up-titration has on adherence and whether it could compromise or enhance the ability to attain treatment goals.

2.2 **Objectives**

Aim 1: To describe the real-world treatment patterns and characteristics of patients on lipid lowering therapy in a Medicare Advantage Plan. This was a descriptive aim to understand the current patterns of LLT in clinical settings.

Aim 2: To identify the sociodemographic and clinical predictors of treatment up-titration in older adults on lipid lowering therapy with a subgroup analysis in patients with uncontrolled LDL-C values at baseline (LDL-C \geq 70 mg/dl in patients with ASCVD).

Hypothesis: There is variation in the up-titration of LLT across patient sociodemographic and clinical factors.

Aim 3: Measure changes in adherence to lipid lowering therapy over time after treatment uptitration. Hypothesis: Up-titration of lipid lowering therapy affects subsequent LLT adherence.

2.3 Main findings

The study aims 1 and 2 had 14,360 patients using LLT. Most of them (99%) were on monotherapy and using statins (99%). Non-statin use was 2.1% either as monotherapy or as a combination. A majority of the LLT users were prevalent users (92.6%), i.e. they had some LLT use in the 1-year pre-index period. Prevalent users had fewer changes, interruptions and discontinuations as compared to new users. In a subgroup analysis of patients \geq 75 years of age as compared to patients aged 65-74, it was observed that older patients were more likely to be on stable therapy, i.e. have fewer changes, up- and down-titrations. Switching, interruption and discontinuation of therapy was not significantly different between patients aged 65 - 74 and patients \geq 75 years.

Predictors of treatment up-titration included younger age groups, having low income subsidization for pharmacy, hypertension and pre-index down-titrations. Patients with higher CMS risk score, ASCVD, prevalent users and patients with pre-index up-titration were less likely to receive treatment up-titration in the follow-up period. In the subgroup of patients with ASCVD and with LDL-C values \geq 70 mg/dl, increasing LDL-C value was associated with increased likelihood of up-titration. Differences in the subgroup from the overall cohort included increased likelihood to up-titrate among patients with diabetes and among patients who were adherent (proportion of days covered for LLT \geq 0.8) at baseline.

In the evaluation of the relationship between treatment up-titration and adherence, it was found that patients with no changes in the pre-index period had overall higher mean (SE) adherence measured as proportion of days covered (PDC) of 0.88 (0.12) but it decreased to 0.86 (0.16) in the follow-up period. Patients with an up-titration had a pre-PDC of 0.72 (0.26) and patients with other

changes such as down-titration and switching had a pre-index mean PDC of 0.62 (0.27). In the model which evaluated the change in PDC over time, there was a decrease in monthly PDC for all the three study groups (no change, up-titration, and other changes) pre-index but all the groups had a significant increase in the PDC each month after the index date. The PDC for the no change group changed from a mean decrease by 1.4% each month to an increase by 0.3% each month after the index date. Similarly the PDC change was 1.1% decrease pre-index which changed to an increase of 1% each month for the group which had an up-titration at the index date. Lastly for the group which had other changes on or prior to the index date, the change in PDC each month pre-index was a 0.9% decrease and it shifted to a mean increase of 1.9% each month post index date.

2.4 Summary

Older adults on lipid lowering therapy were more likely to be stable users with fewer treatment changes, but new users had greater interruptions and discontinuations requiring more care for these high risk patients. Older patients, prevalent users, and patients with a higher risk score (indicating sicker patients) were less likely to receive treatment up-titration. High risk conditions for CV events like diabetes and hypertension were associated with an increased likelihood of up-titration. This cohort of patients was being prescribed LLT in accordance with recommendations from the guidelines. Both up-titration as well as other treatment changes were associated with an improvement in adherence to LLT indicating that regular monitoring of patients by providers may act as an effective intervention to counter the decline in adherence seen with chronic medications over time.

2.5 **References**

1. Division for Heart Disease and Stroke Prevention: Heart Disease Fact Sheet. https://www.cdc.gov/dhdsp/data_statistics/fact_sheets/fs_heart_disease.htm.

- 2. National Center for Health Statistics FastStats: Older Persons' Health. 2018; https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/older-american-health.htm.
- 3. Colby SL, Ortman JM. *Projections of the size and composition of the US population: 2014 to 2060: Population estimates and projections.* Current Population Reports, P25-1143, United States Census Bureau, Washington, DC2014.
- 4. Bauer UE, Briss PA, Goodman RA, Bowman BA. Prevention of chronic disease in the 21st century: elimination of the leading preventable causes of premature death and disability in the USA. *Lancet (London, England).* 2014;384(9937):45-52.
- 5. Silverman MG, Ference BA, Im K, et al. Association Between Lowering LDL-C and Cardiovascular Risk Reduction Among Different Therapeutic Interventions: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA*. 2019;316(12):1289-1297.
- 6. Grundy SM, Stone NJ, Bailey AL, et al. Guideline on the Management of Blood Cholesterol. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2018.
- 7. Sabatine MS, Giugliano RP, Keech AC, et al. Evolocumab and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease. *http://dxdoiorg/101056/NEJMoa1615664*. 2017.
- 8. Schwartz GG, Steg PG, Szarek M, et al. Alirocumab and Cardiovascular Outcomes after Acute Coronary Syndrome. *N Engl J Med.* 2018;379(22):2097-2107.
- 9. Phillips LS, Branch WT, Cook CB, et al. Clinical inertia. *Annals of internal medicine*. 2001;135(9):825-834.
- 10. Milman T, Joundi RA, Alotaibi NM, Saposnik G. Clinical inertia in the pharmacological management of hypertension: A systematic review and meta-analysis2018;No. 25. Located at: Medicine (Baltimore).
- 11. De Vera MA, Bhole V, Burns LC, Lacaille D. Impact of statin adherence on cardiovascular disease and mortality outcomes: a systematic review. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2014;78(4):684-698.
- 12. Bitton A, Choudhry NK, Matlin OS, Swanton K, Shrank WH. The impact of medication adherence on coronary artery disease costs and outcomes: a systematic review. *The American journal of medicine*. 2013;126(4):357.e357-357.e327.
- 13. Pittman DG, Fenton C, Chen W, Haffner S, Pendergrass M. Relation of statin nonadherence and treatment intensification. *The American journal of cardiology*. 2012;110(10):1459-1463.
- 14. Virani SS, Woodard LD, Chitwood SS, et al. Frequency and correlates of treatment intensification for elevated cholesterol levels in patients with cardiovascular disease. *Am Heart J*. 2011;162(4):725-732.e721.
- 15. Heisler M, Hogan MM, Hofer TP, Schmittdiel JA, Pladevall M, Kerr EA. When more is not better: treatment intensification among hypertensive patients with poor medication adherence. *Circulation*. 2008;117(22):2884-2892.

3 Manuscript 1

3.1 Title: Patterns of lipid lowering therapy use among older adults

Authors

Aisha Vadhariya, PhD

Graduate student

Department of Pharmaceutical Health Outcomes and Policy

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: aishavadhariya@gmail.com

Phone: 832-917-4568

Kim K. Birtcher, PharmD, MS, BCPS (AQ Cardiology), CDE, FNLA

Clinical Professor

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: kbirtcher@uh.edu

Phone: 832-842-8372

Susan M. Abughosh, PhD

Associate Professor

Department of Pharmaceutical Health Outcomes and Policy

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: smabugho@central.uh.edu

Phone: 832-842-8395

Manvi Sharma, RPh, MBA, PhD

Assistant Professor

Department of Pharmacy Administration

School of Pharmacy The University of Mississippi

Email: msharma1@olemiss.edu

Phone: 662-915-2173

Hua Chen, MD, PhD

Associate Professor

Department of Pharmaceutical Health Outcomes and Policy

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: hchen20@uh.edu

Phone: 832-842-8355

Michael L. Johnson, PhD

Associate Professor

Department of Pharmaceutical Health Outcomes and Policy

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: mjohnso8@central.uh.edu

Phone: 832-842-8353

3.2 Abstract

Background: The prevalence of both cardiovascular events and patients aged ≥ 65 years is increasing. High values of low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) and increasing age are risk factors for cardiovascular events. There have been new therapies available in the recent years as well as an increased evidence through literature and guidelines to ensure that patients with risk factors for cardiovascular events are prescribed lipid lowering therapy (LLT) and are adherent to it to maintain LDL-C goals. The objective of this study was to describe the current LLT use as well as treatment modification among adults ≥ 65 years.

Methods: A retrospective analysis of administrative claims data between January 2016 and May 2018 was conducted to identify older adults using LLT. Patients were required to be continuously enrolled for one year pre-index as well as one year follow-up and changes in LLT in both these periods were identified. The treatment episodes that were measured included interruption of therapy, intensity changes, dose changes, treatment augmentation, switching and discontinuation. A subgroup analysis of treatment patterns among patients \geq 75 years of age was also performed and compared to patients aged 65-74 years as there is limited recommendation for LLT use in patients aged 75 years and above.

Results: There were 14,360 patients (mean age 73 years, 57.6% female) with a LLT who were included in the study of which 99% of patients were on statin monotherapy and further 99% of them were using statins. Overall non-statin therapy use either as monotherapy or combination was 2.1%. There were significant differences among new and prevalent users of therapy in the cohort (92.5% prevalent users). Among prevalent users 57.4% had no changes in the follow-up period, 13.6% interrupted therapy and 6.6% discontinued. Among new users 25% patients had no changes,

47.9% interrupted therapy and 21.9% discontinued therapy. Patients 75 years and older had fewer changes including both up-titrations and down-titration as compared to patients < 75 years of age.

Conclusion: This study represents the most recent patterns of LLT use in older adults. Most of the patients in the sample were on monotherapy and on statins with low non-statin use. Older adults were more likely to be prevalent users on stable therapy but the new users among them were more likely to discontinue and interrupt therapy representing an opportunity to improve care for these patients.

3.3 Introduction

Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of death in adults aged 40-65 as well as in adults above 65 years of age.¹ Low density lipoprotein (LDL-C) has been implicated as a risk factor for cardiovascular events and LDL-C lowering has proven beneficial in prevention and recurrence of cardiovascular events.^{2,3} 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors i.e. statins have been the mainstay of lipid lowering therapy (LLT) for several decades, although there have been new therapies for LDL-C reduction approved in the past few years. The guideline approved LDL-C lowering non-statin drug classes include cholesterol absorption inhibitors (ezetimibe), bile acid sequestrants and proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) inhibitors.⁴ Over 25% of adults older than 40 years of age were reported to be on a statin in a nationally representative data in the years 2012-2013.^{5,6} These results are prior to the 2013 American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association (ACC/AHA) guidelines which expanded the eligibility of patients recommended to be on a statin by shifting the focus on patient groups that would benefit from statin based on their risk factors rather than LDL-C values.²

PCSK9 inhibitors are the newest class of LLT which were approved by the FDA in 2016 as an add-on to statins. At the same time ezetimibe, a cholesterol absorption inhibitor also became available as a generic drug in the US from December 2016. Completion of large-scale randomized clinical trials including FOURIER, ODYSSEY OUTCOMES and IMPROVE-IT have demonstrated cardiovascular risk reductions with mean LDL-C levels achieved in these trials as low as 30mg/dl.⁷⁻⁹ The new trial results and newer therapies available were incorporated in the recent publication of the 2018 ACC/AHA guidelines for cholesterol management.

The current 2018 ACC/AHA guidelines identify patient management groups for statin therapy which include (a) patients with atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) (b) patients with severe hypercholesterolemia (LDL-C \geq 190mg/dl) (c) patients aged 40-75 with diabetes mellitus and (d) primary prevention adults aged 40 -75 years with an intermediate 10 year ASCVD risk.⁴ For patients over 75 years of age, the guidelines recommend continuation of LLT in patients with ASCVD or diabetes who are already on therapy. However initiation of therapy is recommended only after a discussion of risk and benefits of treatment, and after taking into account patient frailty and preferences.⁴

Older adults are especially vulnerable to cardiovascular events and the consequences may be more severe in older adults.¹⁰ A meta-analysis of 28 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) found that statins reduced vascular events irrespective of age which includes patients > 75 years.¹¹ Studies have reported a steady increase in use of statins between 2007 and 2016 among older adults¹² and similar tolerability of statins among patients > 75 as compared to less than 75 years of age.¹³ However, there is limited literature identifying utilization of LLT in older adults in the recent years. Even among the adult population there have been studies evaluating the use of statins or a particular LLT only, or of LLT in specific subgroups such as patients with diabetes, ASCVD or

myocardial infarction. There is considerable literature evaluating the impact of the 2013 ACC/AHA guidelines on statin use but using data from years 2013 -2015.¹⁴⁻¹⁶(fox 2017) For instance, Okerson et al. and Tran et al. found no change in statin treatment rates following the 2013 guideline changes while Pokharel et al. found an increase in the use of higher intensity statins but also concluded that the trend was present prior to guideline publication. ¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Due to the potential of bias, most studies have focused on understanding utilization among new users of any LLT.¹⁷⁻²⁰ There is a need to evaluate the use of both statin and non-statin LLT among all older adults, not limiting to a certain risk group and by using current data which would reflect clinical practice since the availability of new therapies and publication of their trial results.

Similar to other chronic diseases, in the real-world setting, LLT may undergo interruptions, switching, dose adjustments, reduction or augmentation of therapy.^{19,21,22} These modifications correspond to factors such as side effects or poor tolerance of LLT, need for additional LDL-C lowering, achievement of LDL-C threshold and formulary changes. LLT modifications are common and can impact adherence and LDL-C goal achievement.²¹ Treatment patterns in older adults are likely to differ from their younger counterpart due to differences in guideline recommendations, increased medication complexity, and altered metabolism in older adults. Thus, in addition to LLT use, assessing treatment patterns in older adults is needed to understand the current clinical practice and treatment landscape.

The objective of this study was (a) to describe the utilization of different guideline recommended LLTs and their combinations in older adults (b) identify the modifications in LLT in older adults (age ≥ 65 years) as well as in the subgroup of patients aged 75 years or older.

3.4 Methods

3.4.1 Study design and data description

A retrospective cohort study was performed using administrative claims data from a regional Medicare Advantage Plan between January 1, 2016 and May 30, 2018. The data included patient health plan enrollment information, patient demographics, medical claims from outpatient visits and pharmacy claims. The medical files included diagnostic information in the form of ICD-10-CM codes and procedure information as CPT codes. The pharmacy records contained information about drug names, fill dates, dosage information and days supplied for each prescription.

3.4.2 Patient selection

This study identified patients with a prescription of any guideline recommended LLT between January 2017 and June 2017. This five month duration was the identification period for patients and it ensured the availability of two year data for all patients to implement the study design. The date of the first prescription in the identification period for each patient was identified as the index date. The one year period prior to the index date was the pre-index period. As this study intended to identify patterns of LLT, patients with conditions which affect LLT use including cirrhosis, rhabdomyolysis and end stage renal disease (ESRD) in the pre-index period were excluded from the study. Patients without continuous enrollment in the plan during the pre-index period as well as patients under the age of 65 were excluded from the study. As patients were followed-up for one year after the index date, patients without continuous enrollment in the follow-up period were also excluded from the study.

3.4.3 Study measures

3.4.3.1 Identification of baseline therapy

The type of LLT used by the patients was identified on the index date and was referred to as baseline therapy. The guideline recommended LLT classes evaluated in this study included statins,

ezetimibe, bile acid sequestrants and PCSK9 inhibitors. Some of these therapies are prescribed in combination, mainly with statins to provide additional LDL-C lowering. Patients could therefore be on multiple drugs on the index date. Any LLT which was refilled before the index date but had days supply overlapping with the index date was included to identify concurrent therapy use. Additionally, as shown in Figure 1(a), a baseline therapy identification period of 45 days following the index date was used to identify all the overlapping prescriptions. Any therapy overlap with the index drug, of 14 days or greater within the 45-day period was considered as combination therapy. This definition was selected after evaluating overlap definitions from literature and performing an analysis on 30 patients from our cohort to identify which definition would have the least misclassification of patient therapy ²³⁻²⁶. Patients on three or more drugs in the baseline identification period were excluded from the study (n=28). Patients concurrently using two drugs from the same LLT class were excluded from the study. Figure 1(b) represents the study design and the baseline identification period.

3.4.3.2 LLT use type

Patients without any LLT prescriptions in the pre-index period were classified as new users of LLT.¹⁹ Patients with prior LLT claims were classified as prevalent users. As new users would not have any pre-index treatment patterns and were expected to be different as compared to patients already on LLT, all treatment modifications were stratified by LLT user type.

3.4.3.3 Treatment modifications

The first treatment modification in the pre-index as well as follow-up period closest to the index date was identified as presented in Figure 1. The treatment modifications captured in the study are defined below

15

Interruption of therapy: defined as a gap of ≥ 90 days without any LLT following the end of days of supply from the previous claim.¹⁹

Dose intensification: this modification could only occur with statin medications based on their classification in the ACC/AHA guidelines. The guidelines identify statins as being low, moderate and high intensity statins based on the drug and its daily dose.⁴ Intensification was the escalation in the intensity (low to moderate, moderate to high, or low to high) of the refilled statin.

Dose increase: defined as increase in daily dose of the LLT. If a change for a statin drug was identified as an intensification, then the same change was not considered as a dose increase.

Treatment augmentation (add-on): use of a new LLT with continued use of the previous LLT. Continuous use was captured as a subsequent fill of the index LLT after starting the new LLT.

Switching: at least one claim for a LLT other than the index drug(s) without continued use of the previous therapy. The date of the first claim for the new therapy was the treatment modification date. Switching in the follow-up period was evaluated in further detail as (a) switching from a statin to another statin and (b) switching from a statin therapy to a non-statin therapy or vice versa. *Intensity reduction:* Similar to intensification, this modification could only occur with statin treatment and was defined as a reduction in intensity (moderate to low, high to moderate, or high to low) between consecutive claims for the statin.

Dose decrease: defined as decrease in the daily dose of the therapy that the patient was using at baseline. A decrease in intensity of statin was not considered as a dose decrease.

Treatment discontinuation: defined as the complete discontinuation of therapy in the follow-up period.

In the patterns mentioned above, specifically intensity changes, dose changes and switching which required discontinuation of previous therapy and initiation of a new therapy, the previous therapy could either be discontinued prior to or within 90 days after initiation of the new therapy. As most LLT are filled as 90 day refills, a 90-day cutoff was used in the treatment pattern definitions.

Measure of treatment up-titration and down-titration: The treatment modifications including intensification of the statin, increase in the dose and therapy augmentation were combined in to a composite measure identified as treatment up-titration because all these modifications aimed to increase the potency of the LLT taken by the patient. Similarly treatment down-titration was a combination of statin intensity reduction and dose decrease.

3.4.4 Statistical analysis

All baseline demographics and comorbidities were identified for patients in the pre-index period in order to describe the characteristics of the cohort. Chi-square tests were used to compare the treatment modifications among new and prevalent users as well as the subgroup \geq 75 years of age as compared to 65-74 year old patients. The treatment mapping algorithms and descriptive statistics were analyzed using Statistical Analysis Software, version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC).

Subgroup analysis

All treatment modifications were evaluated in patients \geq 75 years of age and compared using descriptive statistics with patients 65-74 years of age.

3.5 **Results**

There were 34,506 patients with any lipid lowering therapy use between January 2016 and May 2018 identified by the Medicare Advantage Plan. Of these 23,112 patients had a LLT prescription

between January and May 2017. Figure 2 represents the flow chart of patient attrition based on the exclusion criteria after which 14,360 patients were included in the final cohort.

The mean age of the sample was 73 (SD: 6.07) with 35% patients aged 75 years and above. There were 8,265 (57.6%) females and 6,269 (43.7%) had low-income subsidy. Table 1 presents the baseline demographics and comorbidities in the cohort.

3.5.1 Baseline LLT therapy use

From the study cohort, 14,222 (99%) patients were on monotherapy at baseline and only 138 (1%) were identified as being on a combination of two drugs. A majority (99%) of the monotherapy patients were on statins and a majority of combination users (99.3%) were concurrently using a statin with a non-statin. Triglyceride lowering agent use was also identified in 1,203 (8.4%) patients in the pre-index period. Prevalent users comprised 92.6% of the study sample. LLT use at the baseline (or index therapy) is described in Table 2.

3.5.2 Therapy modifications in the pre-index period

Figure 3 represents the treatment modifications of patients in the pre-index and follow-up period. The treatment modification closest to the index date for each patient in the pre-index period was identified. As the first prescription for new users of LLT was on the index date, the pre-index treatment modifications were only evaluated among the prevalent users (13,298 patients). There were 8,648 (65%) patients without a change in therapy in the pre-index period. Of the prevalent users, 4.7% of patients had an interruption of therapy, switching was observed in 3.8% patients, 11.2% had an up-titration and 5.3% had a down-titration. As the index date at the end of the pre-index period was based on a LLT refill, there were no discontinuations in the pre-index period.

3.5.3 Therapy modifications in the follow-up period

Therapy modification in the follow-up period, as presented in Figure 3 were stratified for new and prevalent users of LLT. There were significantly greater number of patients among the new users who had interruption of therapy (47.9% in new users vs 20.2% in prevalent users) as well as up-titrations (15.6% vs 12.4%) when compared to prevalent users of LLT.

Greater proportion of patients among the prevalent users (57.4% vs 25%) had no change in therapy in the one year follow-up. The treatment modifications in the follow-up period were evaluated in greater detail to provide insight into therapy changes as shown in Figure 4.

3.5.4 Subgroup analysis among patients aged 75 years and older

The pre-index and follow-up changes compared between patients aged 65-74 and patients aged 75 years and above are presented in Table 3. There were a greater proportion of patients above 75 years of age without changes in LLT therapy in the pre-index as well as follow-up period. Similarly, pre-index and follow-up up-titrations were significantly lower in older patients. There were no differences in treatment interruption and discontinuations among the stratified age groups.

3.6 **Discussion**

This retrospective claims database analysis assessed the real-world use of different LLT and their combinations and also evaluated the LLT treatment patterns in older adults. The study also compared the treatment changes in patients aged 75 and older as compared to older adults aged 65-74 years because the evidence regarding LLT use is the lowest in patients aged 75 years and over.

Statins were used by 99% of patients either as monotherapy or as a part of a combination. Moderate intensity statins were the most commonly prescribed (60.4 %) and their use was more common in the subgroup aged 75 and over. This aligns with the ACC/AHA guidelines for cholesterol management which recommend patients >75 years be prescribed a moderate intensity statin unless

they are already taking a high intensity statin without tolerability issues.⁴ Despite the availability of newer therapies and the higher risk of statin intolerance in the older adults, ^{27,28} non-statin therapies were used by only 2.1% of patients. Bittner et al. studied the use of ezetimibe in Medicare beneficiaries and found that the utilization of ezetimibe peaked in 2007 and was 4.6% at the end of 2011,²⁹ indicating higher use of statin therapy in this study cohort.

There were 143 patients using simvastatin 80 mg daily, the use of which has been limited by the FDA in 2011 due to increased risk of muscle-related adverse events.³⁰ We therefore assessed if there were of myalgia or myopathy for these patients in the study period, and did not find any such claims suggesting this therapy may be well-tolerated by them. Among patients on combination therapy, patients were pre-dominantly on a combination with a high or moderate intensity statin. This pattern is consistent with the guidelines which suggest up-titrating a patient to a maximally tolerated statin before addition of non-statin therapies. During evaluation of the baseline treatment, 66 patients were found to be using multiple statins concurrently. Use of multiple statins simultaneously has not been mentioned in the guidelines, and further research is needed to understand the prevalence of and reasons of multiple statin use.

This study enhances the understanding of lipid management in older adults by describing patterns of LLT modifications over a period of two years in both new and prevalent users and not limiting to a certain risk group. Of the prevalent users, 5,881 (44.2%) patients did not have any treatment changes, interruption and discontinuation in the entire pre-index and follow-up period indicating that a majority of the patients were on stable lipid lowering therapy.

This study evaluated interruption in therapy and discontinuations as separate modifications in therapy. The number of patients who either interrupted or discontinued therapy was 23.9% in the overall sample. However, the rates of interruption, discontinuation as well as up-titration were

significantly higher in the new users of statins as compared to prevalent users. The treatment patterns among new users were consistent to a new-user study by Simpson et al. which found that interruption occurred in 46.9% patients with re-initiation in 27.4% of them. Older adults initiating a statin are likely to be on other medications and may be at a higher risk of adverse events. Special attention to new users should be provided to ensure that patients do not have any adverse consequences, understand the importance of the new LLT and take medications as prescribed.

Quek et al. performed a retrospective claims-based study of LLT modifications and created an algorithm to group changes into possible statin intolerance or ineffectiveness based on up to two treatment modifications in the follow-up. Dose escalation and add-on were patterns grouped into possible statin ineffectiveness whereas discontinuations, interruption followed by re-initiation, switching to a non-statin were classified as possible intolerance.³¹ This study mapped treatment modifications in an equal detail, but among both, new and prevalent users but made no hypothesis about reasons for modifications. Similar to Quek et al. 75% of new users in this study had at least one treatment modification. Understanding reasons for treatment modifications can provide valuable insight into treatment practices and require further research.

This study has several strengths and unique contributions. The study was performed in the years 2016 - 2018 and therefore provides an update to the existing evidence regarding treatment patterns. The study was not limited to new users, a certain type of LLT or a certain risk group and therefore provides a representation of LLT use in the older adult population.

3.7 Limitations

This study has several limitations arising from the use of secondary databases and conducting observational research. The data was obtained from a regional health plan and therefore the generalizability of results may be limited to patients of a similar demographic. The cohort was

drug-based i.e. only information of patients on LLT was available. Therefore estimates regarding prevalence of older adults who were on LLT could not be determined. The comorbidities were identified from one year of administrative claims from outpatient visits only. Diagnostic information from hospitalization claims was not available which may have resulted in missing diagnostic information. Use of liver function tests and other information which affects use of statins and other LLT but is not available in administrative databases could not be evaluated. Similarly, the reason for the treatment modifications and discontinuation could not be captured. This was a descriptive study and no causal relationships can be established. Lastly, the inclusion requirements of continuous enrollment, use of lipid lowering therapy, exclusion of certain comorbidities could have resulted in a healthier cohort on stable LLT.

3.8 Conclusion

This was a descriptive study aimed at evaluating the landscape of LLT use at a time where the new clinical data as well as updated guidelines have established the importance of statins among all age groups. The study demonstrated that older adults on LLT are more likely to be prevalent users, but still undergo management of therapy to maintain LDL-C values and corresponding cardiovascular risk. While certain patterns point towards guideline concordant prescribing of LLT there are lingering concerns that should be addressed. Understanding the current treatment landscape is helpful for the providers and health plans to understand the existing gaps and realize the potential of the available LLT. Future research is needed to evaluate the impact of these changes on medication adherence as well as achievement of recommended LDL-C thresholds.

3.9 **References**

1. National Center for Health Statistics FastStats: Older Persons' Health. 2018; https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/older-american-health.htm.

- 2. Stone NJ, Robinson JG, Lichtenstein AH, et al. 2013 ACC/AHA guideline on the treatment of blood cholesterol to reduce atherosclerotic cardiovascular risk in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 2014;63(25 Pt B):2889-2934.
- 3. Collaborators CTTC. The effects of lowering LDL cholesterol with statin therapy in people at low risk of vascular disease: meta-analysis of individual data from 27 randomised trials. *The Lancet.* 2012;380(9841):581-590.
- 4. Grundy SM, Stone NJ, Bailey AL, et al. Guideline on the Management of Blood Cholesterol. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2018.
- 5. Salami JA, Center for Healthcare Advancement and Outcomes BHSF, Miami, Warraich H, et al. National Trends in Statin Use and Expenditures in the US Adult Population From 2002 to 2013: Insights From the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey. *JAMA Cardiology*. 2019;2(1):56-65.
- 6. Salami JA, Warraich HJ, Valero-Elizondo J, et al. National Trends in Nonstatin Use and Expenditures Among the US Adult Population From 2002 to 2013: Insights From Medical Expenditure Panel Survey. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2018;7(2).
- 7. Sabatine MS, Giugliano RP, Keech AC, et al. Evolocumab and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease. *http://dxdoiorg/101056/NEJMoa1615664*. 2017.
- 8. Schwartz GG, Steg PG, Szarek M, et al. Alirocumab and Cardiovascular Outcomes after Acute Coronary Syndrome. *N Engl J Med.* 2018;379(22):2097-2107.
- 9. Cannon CP, Blazing MA, Giugliano RP, et al. Ezetimibe Added to Statin Therapy after Acute Coronary Syndromes. *http://dxdoiorg/101056/NEJMoa1410489*. 2015.
- 10. Marrugat J, Sala J, Manresa JM, et al. Acute myocardial infarction population incidence and in-hospital management factors associated to 28-day case-fatality in the 65 year and older. *Eur J Epidemiol.* 2004;19(3):231-237.
- 11. Collaboration CTT. Efficacy and safety of statin therapy in older people: a meta-analysis of individual participant data from 28 randomised controlled trials. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2019;393(10170):407-415.
- 12. Ofori-Asenso R, Ilomaki J, Zomer E, Curtis AJ, Zoungas S, Liew D. A 10-Year Trend in Statin Use Among Older Adults in Australia: an Analysis Using National Pharmacy Claims Data. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther.* 2018;32(3):265-272.
- 13. Nanna MG, Navar AM, Wang TY, et al. Statin Use and Adverse Effects Among Adults >75 Years of Age: Insights From the Patient and Provider Assessment of Lipid Management (PALM) Registry. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2018;7(10).
- 14. Okerson T, Patel J, DiMario S, Burton T, Seare J, Harrison DJ. Effect of 2013 ACC/AHA Blood Cholesterol Guidelines on Statin Treatment Patterns and Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol in Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Patients. *J Am Heart Assoc*. 2017;6(3).
- 15. Tran JN, Kao TC, Caglar T, et al. Impact of the 2013 Cholesterol Guideline on Patterns of Lipid-Lowering Treatment in Patients with Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease or Diabetes After 1 Year. *J Manag Care Spec Pharm.* 2016;22(8):901-908.
- 16. Pokharel Y, Akeroyd JM, Ramsey DJ, et al. Statin Use and Its Facility-Level Variation in Patients With Diabetes: Insight From the Veterans Affairs National Database. *Clinical cardiology*. 2016;39(4):185-191.

- 17. Simpson RJ, Jr., Tunceli K, Ramey DR, et al. Treatment pattern changes in high-risk patients newly initiated on statin monotherapy in a managed care setting. *J Clin Lipidol*. 2013;7(5):399-407.
- 18. Garcia-Gil M, Blanch J, Comas-Cufi M, et al. Patterns of statin use and cholesterol goal attainment in a high-risk cardiovascular population: A retrospective study of primary care electronic medical records. *J Clin Lipidol*. 2016;10(1):134-142.
- 19. de Vries FM, Voorham J, Hak E, Denig P. Prescribing patterns, adherence and LDLcholesterol response of type 2 diabetes patients initiating statin on low-dose versus standard-dose treatment: a descriptive study. *International journal of clinical practice*. 2016;70(6):482-492.
- 20. Vupputuri S, Joski PJ, Kilpatrick R, et al. LDL cholesterol response and statin adherence among high-risk patients initiating treatment. *The American journal of managed care*. 2016;22(3):e106-115.
- 21. Fox KM, Tai MH, Kostev K, Hatz M, Qian Y, Laufs U. Treatment patterns and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) goal attainment among patients receiving high- or moderate-intensity statins. *Clinical research in cardiology : official journal of the German Cardiac Society*. 2018;107(5):380-388.
- 22. Simpson RJ, RSimpson@med.unc.edu, University of North Carolina Hospital DCC, 6033 Burnett-Womack, Chapel Hill, NC 27599-7075, USA, et al. Treatment pattern changes in high-risk patients newly initiated on statin monotherapy in a managed care setting. *Journal* of Clinical Lipidology. 2013;7(5):399-407.
- 23. Burger CD, Ozbay AB, Lazarus HM, et al. Treatment Patterns and Associated Health Care Costs Before and After Treatment Initiation Among Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Patients in the United States. *J Manag Care Spec Pharm.* 2018;24(8):834-842.
- 24. Angalakuditi M, Edgell E, Beardsworth A, Buysman E, Bancroft T. Treatment patterns and resource utilization and costs among patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension in the United States. *J Med Econ.* 2010;13(3):393-402.
- 25. Gauthier G, Guérin A, Zhdanava M, et al. Treatment patterns, healthcare resource utilization, and costs following first-line antidepressant treatment in major depressive disorder: a retrospective US claims database analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2017;17(222).
- 26. Suzuki S, Desai U, Strizek A, et al. Characteristics, Treatment Patterns, and Economic Outcomes of Patients Initiating Injectable Medications for Management of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Japan: Results from a Retrospective Claims Database Analysis. *Diabetes Ther.* 2018;9(3):1125-1141.
- 27. Banach M, Serban M. Discussion around statin discontinuation in older adults and patients with wasting diseases. 2016;7(4):396-399. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jcsm.12109.
- 28. Banach M, Rizzo M, Toth PP, et al. Statin intolerance an attempt at a unified definition. Position paper from an International Lipid Expert Panel. *Arch Med Sci.* 2015;11(1):1-23.
- 29. Bittner V, Deng L, Rosenson RS, et al. Trends in the Use of Nonstatin Lipid-Lowering Therapy Among Patients With Coronary Heart Disease: A Retrospective Cohort Study in the Medicare Population 2007 to 2011. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 2015;66(17):1864-1872.
- FDA Drug Safety Communication: New restrictions, contraindications, and dose limitations for Zocor (simvastatin) to reduce the risk of muscle injury. 2019; https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-safety-and-availability/fda-drug-safety-

communication-new-restrictions-contraindications-and-dose-limitations-zocor. Accessed April 27 2019.

31. Quek RGW, Fox KM, Wang L, Li L, Gandra SR, Wong ND. A US Claims-Based Analysis of Real-World Lipid-Lowering Treatment Patterns in Patients With High Cardiovascular Disease Risk or a Previous Coronary Event. *The American journal of cardiology*. 2016;117(4):495-500.

3.10 Figures and tables

Figure 1. Representation of (a) study design and (b) baseline treatment identification

1(a)



*14 days overlap in 45 days to be identified as a concomitant LLT taken with the index drug

Figure 2. Flow chart of final cohort derivation




Figure 3. Treatment modifications in the pre-index and follow-up period

*Difference between new and prevalent users is p <0.05

Variable	Ν	%	
Age, Mean (SD)	73 (73 (6.07)	
Age groups			
65-69	5,036	35.1%	
70-74	4,329	30.2%	
75-79	2,689	18.7%	
80 and above	2,306	16.1%	
Female	8,265	57.6%	
Low income subsidy	6,269	43.7%	
Presence of comorbidities			
Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD)	12,005	83.6%	
Hyperlipidemia	9,381	65.3%	
Hypertension	8,084	56.3%	
Diabetes	6,333	44.1%	
Chronic kidney disease	3,503	24.4%	
Congestive heart failure	1,481	10.3%	
Inflammatory conditions	261	1.8%	
Obesity	1,521	10.6%	
Myalgia	190	1.3%	
Myopathy	4	0.0%	
Dementia	448	3.1%	
CMS Risk score, Mean (SD)	1.31	0.94	

 Table 1. Baseline demographics and clinical characteristics of the entire sample

Lipid lowering therapy type		N (%)	
Monotherapy		N = 14,222 (99%)	
Statins		14,062 (98.9%)	
	Low-intensity	2,077 (14.8%)	
	Moderate-intensity	8,495 (60.4%)	
	High-intensity	3,490 (24.8%)	
Non-statins		160 (1.1%)	
	Ezetimibe	124 (77.5%)	
	PCSK9 inhibitors	2 (1.3%)	
	Bile-acid sequestrants	34 (21.3%)	
Two drug combination therapy		N = 138 (1%)	
Statin and non-statin			
Low intensity statin	Ezetimibe	10 (7.3%)	
	PCSK9 inhibitors	0	
	Bile-acid sequestrants	1 (0.7%)	
Moderate intensity statins	Ezetimibe	58 (42.3%)	
	PCSK9 inhibitors	0	
	Bile-acid sequestrants	16 (11.6%)	
High intensity statin	Ezetimibe	44 (32.1%)	
	PCSK9 inhibitors	1 (0.7%)	
	Bile-acid sequestrants	8 (5.8%)	
Non-statin and non-statin			
Ezetimibe	Bile-acid sequestrants	1 (0.7%)	

 Table 2. Baseline statin therapy in the sample (N=14,360)

Variable	Age under 75 (n = 9,365)	Age \ge 75 (n = 4,995)	p-value
Prevalent user	8,641 (92.3%)	4,657 (93.2%)	0.0355
Pre-index treatment modifications a	mong prevalent users	*	
Interruption of therapy	1,275(14.8%)	676 (14.5%)	0.7097
No change	6,181 (71.5%)	3,681 (79.0%)	< 0.0001
Pre-index up titration	1,351 (15.6%)	447 (9.6%)	< 0.0001
Pre-index down-titration	648 (7.5%)	288 (6.2%)	0.0047
Pre-index switch	461 (5.3%)	241 (5.1%)	0.6938
Follow-up treatment modifications	among all user types		
Interruption of therapy	1,360 (14.5%)	727 (14.6%)	0.9582
Discontinuation	709 (7.6%)	404 (8.1%)	0.2695
No change	4,974 (53.1%)	2,924 (58.5%)	< 0.0001
Up titration	1,351 (14.4%)	465 (9.3%)	<0.0001
Down-titration	480 (5.1%)	243 (4.9%)	0.4964
Switch	490 (5.2%)	232 (4.6%)	0.1248

Table 3. Pre-index and follow-up treatment patterns in patients 75 years of age and above as compared to patients aged between 65 -74 years

*As new users cannot have pre-index treatment modifications, all pre-index modifications are reported only among prevalent users

4 Manuscript 2

4.1 Title: Predictors of lipid lowering therapy up-titration among older adults

Authors

Aisha Vadhariya, PhD

Graduate student

Department of Pharmaceutical Health Outcomes and Policy

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: aishavadhariya@gmail.com

Phone: 832-917-4568

Kim K. Birtcher, PharmD, MS, BCPS (AQ Cardiology), CDE, FNLA

Clinical Professor

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: kbirtcher@uh.edu

Phone: 832-842-8372

Susan M. Abughosh, PhD

Associate Professor

Department of Pharmaceutical Health Outcomes and Policy

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: smabugho@central.uh.edu

Phone: 832-842-8395

Manvi Sharma, RPh, MBA, PhD

Assistant Professor

Department of Pharmacy Administration

School of Pharmacy the University of Mississippi

Email: msharma1@olemiss.edu

Phone: 662-915-2173

Hua Chen, MD, PhD

Associate Professor

Department of Pharmaceutical Health Outcomes and Policy

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: hchen20@uh.edu

Phone: 832-842-8355

Michael L. Johnson, PhD

Associate Professor

Department of Pharmaceutical Health Outcomes and Policy

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: mjohnso8@central.uh.edu

Phone: 832-842-8353

4.2 Abstract

Background: Recent results from clinical trials and newly updated guidelines emphasize lipid lowering for cardiovascular risk reduction, which may require more treatment up-titrations to achieve lower low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) values. However older adults are more likely to suffer adverse effects of statins but are also at a greater risk for cardiovascular events. Thus understanding the predictors of LLT up-titration among older adults in the current real-world setting is important.

Objective: To evaluate the patient level predictors of LLT in older adults as well as specifically in high risk older adults with atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) and LDL-C values \geq 70 mg/dl.

Methods: Patients aged 65 years and older and using a LLT between January and May 2017 were identified from a regional Medicare Advantage plan. Patterns of LLT use in these patients were captured in the one year prior to as well as one year following the index date. Baseline and clinical characteristics of the patients were measured in the one year pre-index period. Multivariable logistic regression models identified the predictors of LLT up-titration in the follow-up period. A subgroup analysis was specifically performed in patients with ASCVD and pre-index LDL-C values \geq 70 mg/dl.

Results: There were 14,360 patients included in this study and 4,708 had ASCVD and an LDL-C value \geq 70 mg/dl. Older age, higher CMS risk score, ASCVD, prevalent use of statins were associated with lower likelihood of treatment up-titration. Having low income subsidy, hypertension, pre-index down-titrations were associated with higher likelihood of up-titrations. In the uncontrolled LDL-C subgroup, important differences from the overall sample were that

diabetes and being adherent to LLT were associated with increased likelihood of treatment uptitration. Higher LDL-C value was also associated with higher odds of up-titration in the followup.

Conclusion: Patients with high risk comorbidities and higher LDL-C values were more likely to get up-titrated. Older and sicker patients were less likely to get up-titrated. Older adults in this health plan were being treated with consideration to patient demographics, cardiovascular risk factors and baseline treatment use.

4.3 Background

There has been an increased emphasis on lowering of low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) for the reduction of cardiovascular risk.¹ The Adult Treatment Panel III cholesterol guidelines published in 2001 recommended a goal of < 100 mg/dl for patients with coronary heart disease, with lifestyle changes recommended to patients with LDL-C between 100 – 129 mg/dl and drug therapy to patients with LDL-C \geq 130 mg/dl.² The 2013 American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association (ACC/AHA) guidelines did not mention specific LDL-C thresholds but the updated 2018 ACC/AHA guidelines recommend a LDL-C threshold of 70 mg/dl for considering up-titration of medication in patients with atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases (ASCVD), which is lower than the previous standard.³ The current ACC/AHA guidelines also align with recommendations from 2016 European Society of Cardiology, ⁴ and the 2017 American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists and American College of Endocrinology (AACE) guidelines.⁵ This emphasis is reinforced by the availability of new lipid lowering therapies (LLT) as well as several existing statins and non-statins such as rosuvastatin and ezetimibe being available as generic drugs at lower cost to achieve LDL-C goals.

Achievement of the intended benefit from LLT may be affected by many patient and physician level factors.⁶⁻⁸ Physician level factors include lack of knowledge about practice guidelines or lack of time.⁶⁻⁹ Failure to intensify treatment by providers in patients not within LDL-C thresholds can be characterized as clinical inertia.¹⁰ However, there are patient level factors such as poor adherence, age, statin intolerance and preferences which can affect a patient's likelihood to receive up-titration.

The older adult (age \geq 65 years) population in United Stated is increasing. It is projected to increase from 46 million in 2014 to over 98 million by 2060 and account for almost 24% of the US population.^{11,12} Up-titrations in older adults involves additional considerations as compared to younger patients. First of all, the LLT use and modifications in adults > 75 years of age is not fixed as the guidelines recommend that initiation of therapy in patients with ASCVD should account for "the potential of risk reduction, adverse effects, drug-drug interactions, as well as patient frailty and patient preferences".³ A reason that the guidelines are not very clear is the lack of evidence for adults > 75 years due to their under representation in the existing clinical trials.¹³ Patients over 75 years of age are still at a high risk of cardiovascular diseases and a cardiovascular event may be far more serious in older compared to younger patients.¹⁴

At the same time, older adults are also more susceptible to adverse events and toxicities from LLT. For example, older adults are at higher risk of adverse events such as liver test abnormalities and statin associated muscle symptoms as well as have lower adherence and higher discontinuation rate with high-intensity statins as compared to moderate intensity statins.¹⁵ Other considerations for older adults include lower life expectancy, presence of comorbidities, altered pharmacokinetics, and cognitive factors.^{16,17} Polypharmacy which is associated with adverse clinical consequences is another concern associated with up-titration LLT in older adults.¹⁸ Thus

the emphasis on aggressive LDL-C lowering through pharmacotherapy may not be a preferred approach for older adults.

With the dynamic landscape around LLT it is important to understand what patient factors determine treatment up-titration in older adults in the current clinical setting. The questions which need to be answered are, "are patients at high risk being up-titrated?" or "is there a lower rate of up-titration in frail patients or patients at high risk of adverse events from therapy?" Thus the objective of this study is to identify predictors of treatment up-titration in older adults on LLT.

4.4 Methods

4.4.1 Data source and study design

This retrospective study used administrative claims data from a Medicare Advantage Plan in Texas to identify the predictors of LLT treatment up-titration in older adults. The Medicare Advantage data predominantly contains adults over 65 years of age. Data from January 2016 to May 2018 was used to obtain a 2 year study period for all patients. Information regarding patient enrollment, baseline demographics, pharmacy and medical claims were available in the data. Laboratory tests and results were also available for a subgroup of patients. Pharmacy files included drug names as well as National Drug Codes (NDC), generic names, date of refilling the prescription, quantity dispensed and length of supply. Medical claims included information regarding the date of service, diagnostic codes (International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision, Clinical Modification [ICD-10-CM] codes), and procedure codes (Current Procedural Terminology codes).

4.4.2 Study sample

Patients with a LLT refill between January and June 2017 (identification period) were identified. Index date was defined as the first prescription of any LLT in the identification period. LLT refilled before the index date, having overlapping supply with the index refill and belonging to a LLT class other than the index refill were considered as concomitant therapy. Similarly, use of another LLT with an overlap of 14 days within the first 45 days of the index date was also evaluated as a potential combination therapy (described in greater detail in the methodology of Manuscript 1). For example, if a patient had a refill of a statin on the index date and a 90-day refill of ezetimibe 30 days before the index date, the resulting 60 day overlap with the index drug would be considered as combination LLT. Patients with multiple concurrent statin use identified in this period, as well as patients on 3 or more LLT at the same time were excluded. As this study intended to focus on older adults, only patients aged 65 years and above were included. The one year period prior to the index date was the pre-index period during which the covariates were measured. For patients who had LLT use in the pre-index period (prevalent users), the pre-index LLT modifications were also captured. This study excluded patients with a diagnosis of either end stage renal disease (ESRD), cirrhosis, or rhabdomyolysis because the presence of these co-morbidities influences the likelihood of LLT modification. Patients were followed for a 1-year period after the index date to identify the outcome, i.e. treatment up-titration. Inclusion in the cohort required continuous eligibility in the pre-index and follow-up period. Figure 1 represents the stepwise implementation of the study inclusion criteria.

Patients with an LDL-C test in the 180-days prior to the index date were included in a separate subgroup analysis. The LDL-C measurement closest to the index date was used. If the patient had a treatment up-titration between the LDL-C test date and index date, then the patient was excluded from the subgroup analyses.

4.4.3 Medication use and modification variables

Lipid lowering therapies: The guideline recommended LDL-C lowering therapies evaluated were statins, ezetimibe, bile acid sequestrants and PCSK9 inhibitors.

Outcome: The outcome variable was LLT up-titration in the 1 year follow-up period. Treatment up-titration was a composite measure for the occurrence of either statin intensity increase, LLT dose increase or add-on treatment. Each of these modifications are described below:

Statin intensification: this modification could only occur with statin medications based on their classification in the ACC/AHA guidelines. The guidelines identify statins as being low, moderate and high intensity statins based on the drug and its daily dose ³. Intensification was the escalation in dose intensity (low to moderate, moderate to high, or low to high) between consecutive claims for the statin.

Dose increase: defined as increase in the daily dose of LLT. Even though statins could have dose increases, if a change for a statin drug was identified as an intensification, then the same change was not considered as a dose increase.

Add-on: defined as the use of a new LLT with continued use of the previous LLT.

Pre-index treatment modifications: Treatment up-titration as well as down-titration were also measured in the pre-index period for prevalent users of LLT, i.e. for patients having LLT use in the period before the index date. Treatment down-titration was a composite measure of either decrease in the intensity of a statin or decrease in the dose of LLT.

4.4.4 Independent variables as potential predictors of LLT up-titration

Sociodemographic variables: Demographic variables included as predictors were age group, sex and low income subsidy. Age was divided into the groups 65 - 69, 70 - 74, 75 and above. Female

was the reference group in the sex variable. Low income subsidization (LIS) was a binary variable (yes vs no) which determined whether the patients received any extra financial assistance in their pharmacy copayments.

Comorbidities: Presence of ASCVD was defined as the presence of diagnosis for either acute coronary syndrome (ACS), a history of myocardial infarction, stable or unstable angina, coronary or other arterial revascularization, stroke, transient ischemic attack, or peripheral arterial disease ³. The other comorbidities tested as predictors of treatment up-titration included diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, dementia and chronic kidney disease (CKD). Known adverse effects of statins, including myalgia and myopathy, were also tested. Obesity and inflammatory conditions are guideline specified risk factors for cardiovascular events which could be identified using claims data and therefore were also tested. The CMS risk score which accounts for medication burden and disease severity was provided in the data from the Medicare Advantage plan and was also considered.

Treatment characteristics: Patients without any LLT in the pre-index period were defined as new users of LLT. Index treatment was categorized as statins, non-statins or combination with statins. Pre-index treatment up-titration and down-titration were also evaluated as predictors of follow-up treatment up-titration.

4.4.5 Statistical analysis

Data were summarized using descriptive statistics. Statistical differences were assessed using Pearson's χ^2 tests for the categorical variables and t-tests for continuous variables. Multivariable logistic regression analysis was used to determine the unique association of the sociodemographic, comorbid, and treatment characteristics with treatment up-titration. The final logistic model was

selected by adding variables one at a time starting with demographic covariates (age group, sex, and low income subsidy) followed by comorbidities added one at a time as well as the CMS risk score. The pre-index treatment modifications were added, followed by treatment characteristics (prevalent vs new user, use of a statin or combination vs non-statin only). The decision to add a variable was made by the authors based on the c-statistic, Akaike Information Criteria (AIC), clinical relevance of the variable and lastly the statistical significance of the variable. Multicollinearity and interaction assessment between the variables was also performed. Statistical Analysis Software, version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC) was used for the analyses.

Subgroup analysis: Patients with ASCVD and an LDL-C value \geq 70 mg/dl were evaluated in the subgroup analysis because they represented older adults at high risk of cardiovascular events and candidates of treatment up-titration. For the LDL-C assessment subgroup, LDL-C was added into the analytic model as a categorical variable, and values between 70 - 99 mg/dl were compared to LDL-C values of 100 mg/dl and above.

4.5 **Results**

The data contained 23,112 patients with a LLT prescription in the identification period. The final cohort after exclusions comprised 14,360 patients (Figure 1). Among these, 1,816 (12.6%) patients had an up-titration in the follow-up period. The baseline characteristics of the cohort are presented in Table 1. More patients receiving an up-titration were in the younger age groups and a greater proportion of them had low income subsidy. Patients receiving an up-titration also had fewer pre-index up-titrations (10% vs 12.9%) and greater pre-index down-titrations (10% vs 6%) as compared to the patients who did not have an up-titration in the follow-up period. There were 6,189 patients with an LDL-C in the 180-day pre-index period of which 4,708 patients had ASCVD and values \geq 70 mg/dl and were analyzed in the subgroup analysis.

The variables that were tested but not added into the final logistic model were hyperlipidemia, obesity, and number of physician visits. Table 2 presents the predictors of treatment up-titration in the overall sample. Patients in each of the higher age groups (70 - 74 years, 75 - 79 years, 80 years and above) were less likely to receive treatment up-titration as compared to patients aged 65 - 69. Patients having LIS for pharmacy prescriptions were 20% more likely to receive treatment up-titration [OR: 1.19 (95% CI: 1.08 - 1.32)]. Patients with ASCVD were 25% less likely [OR: 0.75 (95% CI: 0.63 - 0.88)] and patients with hypertension were 14% more likely [OR: 1.14 (95% CI: 1.01 - 1.28)] to receive treatment up-titration as compared to patients without those conditions. Patients with higher CMS risk score were less likely to receive treatment up-titration [OR: 0.87 - 0.99)]. Up-titration in the pre-index period was associated with lower odds [OR: 0.70 (95% CI: 0.59 - 0.83)] of being up-titrated in the follow-up while down-titration in the pre-index period was associated with higher odds [OR: 1.65 (95% CI: 1.38 - 1.96)] of being up-titrated in the follow-up. Prevalent users of LLT and patients on either statins or combination were less likely to get up-titrated as compared to patients only.

Table 3 presents factors associated with up-titration in the specific subgroup with ASCVD and LDL-C values \geq 70 mg/dl. The rate of up-titration (11.1%) in the subgroup with LDL-C was lower than the overall sample. Among the patients with a recorded LDL-C value \geq 70 mg/dl, 12.3% had an up-titration. LDL-C group was a significant predictor of treatment up-titration and patients having an LDL-C \geq 100 mg/dl were 68% more likely [OR: 1.68 (95% CI: 1.39 – 2.04)] than patients with an LDL-C between 70 and 99 mg/dl to receive an up-titration in the follow-up. The similarities with the overall analysis were the association of age, LIS, CMS risk score, pre-index up and down-titration and baseline drug type with the likelihood of receiving an up-titration.

treatment up-titration [OR: 1.22 (95% CI: 1.01 – 1.47)]. Patients who were adherent (i.e. PDC \geq 0.8) were 42% more likely to receive a treatment up-titration [OR: 1.42 (95% CI: 1.13 – 1.78)].

4.6 **Discussion**

This study identified the predictors of lipid lowering treatment up-titration among older adults in the current clinical setting. The predictors in the overall sample of older adults on LLT were explored following which the predictors in the specific subgroup with higher risk, i.e. ASCVD and higher LDL-C values were identified. The main purpose of understanding treatment up-titrations is the increasing focus on achieving lower LDL-C values which would require up-titrating patients not at goal but would require additional considerations for older adults. We did not find any study identifying the predictors of LLT up-titration among older adults since the changes in the guidelines in 2013.

Increasing age group was found to be associated with a lower likelihood of treatment up-titrations which aligns with both the guidelines and existing literature. As age increases mean LDL-C values decrease, ¹⁹ and additional factors such as patient frailty also have to be accounted for. Wang and colleagues found that older patients were also less likely to receive LDL-C testing following a discharge after an acute myocardial infarction.²⁰ Additionally intensifying treatment may predispose a patient to adverse events like myopathy and rhabdomyolysis which are dose dependent.²¹ Rodondi et al. identified that patients older than 65 were more likely to receive appropriate care for poorly controlled dyslipidemia where appropriate care was defined as either receiving therapy modifications or attain control without any modification in 6 months follow-up.²² Studies evaluating outcomes among older adults receiving up-titration would provide more insight into the appropriateness of this finding of lower treatment titrations with increasing age for patient care.

Presence of ASCVD and prevalent use of LLT was associated with lower treatment up-titrations. This could be due to long-term use of LLT in such patients leading to patients being on stable or maximally tolerated therapy. Patients with higher CMS risk score also had lower odds of receiving an up-titration which could indicate that sicker or more severe patients were less likely to get up-titrated for LLT. These findings are consistent with the philosophy of the 2018 cholesterol guideline of tailoring the lipid lowering therapy to the individual patient by considering benefit versus risk.

Hypertension and diabetes are independent risk factors for cardiovascular events in older adults.²³ Patients in the overall sample with hypertension and patients with diabetes in the subgroup analysis were more likely to receive an up-titration. Melloni and colleagues found that patients who received up-titration during a hospitalization for acute coronary syndrome (ACS) were more likely to have hypertension.²⁴ Up-titration in patients with diabetes in the subgroup analysis could be attributable to the additional risk factor for cardiovascular events from diabetes ³. On the other hand, statin use has been associated with incident diabetes which may result in failure to up-titrate among patients without diabetes.²⁵ Patients with LIS were also more likely to receive up-titration. LIS is provided to patients by the health plan based on the socioeconomic status. Even though the patients with LIS have subsidization for pharmacy drugs, it is unlikely that cost was a reason that LIS and up-titrations were associated because most patients were on statins which are available at a very low copay even without LIS. Socioeconomic status has been associated with poor health literacy, higher risk of multimorbidity, cardiovascular risk and poor adherence.^{26,27} These could be possible underlying factors for the patients with LIS receiving more up-titrations. Information on the reason for up-titration can provide information for these patterns which should be evaluated in future studies.

Patients with up-titration in the pre-index period were less likely to receive up-titration in the follow-up period. Down-titrations in the pre-index period were associated with increased odds of follow-up treatment up-titration. The pre-index down-titration could be associated with improved control or poor tolerability in which case the higher likelihood of follow-up up-titration could mean re-challenge or medication management to maintain LDL-C values. Booth and colleagues found that in patients who re-initiate statins after discontinuation, down-titrations and switching were associated with better persistence indicating that the modifications observed in this study could be associated with medication adherence as well.²⁸ Patients with prior down-titrations who are up-titrated could be re-challenged with the same therapy or another combination. This also highlights that LLT medication management is a dynamic process in which physician visits, LDL-C panels at regular intervals allow opportunities to identify and mitigate risk of cardiovascular events through modification of pharmacotherapy or other approaches.

The interpretation of the study findings does not give rise to any evident non-compliance of the guidelines in the treatment of older adults. This could be due to increased awareness of the guidelines as consistent efforts are being made by managed care plans to educate providers. As the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services provides a capitated payment per beneficiary to the managed care plans, comprehensive treatment to provide disease management and slow progression are the approaches often used by managed care plans to enhance performance.

4.7 Limitations

Use of pharmacy claims data may result in misclassification of LLT use patterns because it captures refill not actual behavior and therefore, some beneficiaries may not actually have taken the medication they refilled. The reasons for treatment up-titration as well as other modifications could not be ascertained from the database. We had laboratory information on a subset of patients

who were tested at certain laboratories reporting results to the managed care plan. Other patients may also have had laboratory tests, but were not captured by the data source as all the laboratories do not report test information to the health plan. Physician level factors which may influence treatment modifications were not available and were not evaluated in the model. This study did not capture potential efforts of the Managed Care plan from which the data was obtained to emphasize guideline directed medical therapy in the physicians. The results therefore need validation from other data sources with older adults to ascertain the generalizability of the results beyond similar health plans.

Despite these limitations, this study provided an insight of the LLT modification practice in older adults and the similarity in results between the overall sample and subgroup analysis indicate a stability in results.

4.8 **Conclusion**

In summary, older patients and patients on stable therapy were less likely to receive up-titration and patients with comorbidities associated with cardiovascular risk are more likely to get uptitrated. Our study contributes to the scientific literature by providing up-to date patient and medication level predictors of treatment up-titration. Characteristics of physician and managed care plans associated with up-titration, as well as patient outcomes, would provide more information regarding the up-titration practices in older adults and inform evidence based care.

4.9 **References**

- 1. Ramjee V, Jacobson T. Intensifying statin therapy to maximize cardiovascular risk reduction: is 50 the new 70? Goals are getting old. *http://dxdoiorg/102217/clp114*. 2017.
- 2. Lipsy RJ. The National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III guidelines. *J Manag Care Pharm.* 2003;9(1 Suppl):2-5.
- 3. Grundy SM, Stone NJ, Bailey AL, et al. Guideline on the Management of Blood Cholesterol. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2018.

- 4. Piepoli MF, Hoes AW, Agewall S, et al. 2016 European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: The Sixth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (constituted by representatives of 10 societies and by invited experts)Developed with the special contribution of the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation (EACPR). *Eur Heart J.* 2016;37(29):2315-2381.
- 5. Jellinger PS, Handelsman Y, Rosenblit PD, et al. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists and American College of Endocrinology Guidelines for Management of Dyslipidemia and Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease. *Endocrine practice : official journal of the American College of Endocrinology and the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists*. 2017;23(Suppl 2):1-87.
- 6. Zafar A, Stone MA, Davies MJ, Khunti K. Acknowledging and allocating responsibility for clinical inertia in the management of Type 2 diabetes in primary care: a qualitative study. *Diabet Med.* 2015;32(3):407-413.
- 7. Jansen J, McKinn S, Bonner C, et al. General Practitioners' Decision Making about Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease in Older Adults: A Qualitative Study. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(1):e0170228.
- 8. Milman T, Joundi RA, Alotaibi NM, Saposnik G. Clinical inertia in the pharmacological management of hypertension: A systematic review and meta-analysis2018;No. 25. Located at: Medicine (Baltimore).
- 9. Khunti K, Danese MD, Kutikova L, et al. Association of a Combined Measure of Adherence and Treatment Intensity With Cardiovascular Outcomes in Patients With Atherosclerosis or Other Cardiovascular Risk Factors Treated With Statins and/or Ezetimibe. *JAMA Network Open.* 2019;1(8).
- 10. Phillips LS, Branch WT, Cook CB, et al. Clinical inertia. *Annals of internal medicine*. 2001;135(9):825-834.
- 11. Mather M, Jacobsen LA, Pollard KM. *Aging in the United States*. Population Bulletin: Population Reference Bureau;2015.
- 12. Colby SL, Ortman JM. Projections of the size and composition of the US population: 2014 to 2060. *Current Population Reports US Census Bureau, Washington, DC.* 2015:25-1143.
- 13. Brugts JJ, Yetgin T, Hoeks SE, et al. The benefits of statins in people without established cardiovascular disease but with cardiovascular risk factors: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Bmj.* 2009;338:b2376.
- 14. Forman DE, Maurer MS, Boyd C, et al. Multimorbidity in Older Adults With Cardiovascular Disease. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 2018;71(19):2149-2161.
- 15. Tikkanen MJ, Holme I, Cater NB, et al. Comparison of efficacy and safety of atorvastatin (80 mg) to simvastatin (20 to 40 mg) in patients aged <65 versus >or=65 years with coronary heart disease (from the Incremental DEcrease through Aggressive Lipid Lowering [IDEAL] study). *The American journal of cardiology*. 2009;103(5):577-582.
- 16. Mangoni AA, Jackson SHD. Age-related changes in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: basic principles and practical applications. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 2004;57(1):6-14.
- 17. Ayan M, Pothineni NV, Siraj A, Mehta JL. Cardiac drug therapy—considerations in the elderly. *J Geriatr Cardiol*. 2016;13(12):992-997.

- 18. Saraf AA, Petersen AW, Simmons SF, et al. Medications associated with geriatric syndromes and their prevalence in older hospitalized adults discharged to skilled nursing facilities. *J Hosp Med.* 2016;11(10):694-700.
- 19. Upmeier E, Lavonius S, Heinonen P, et al. Longitudinal changes in serum lipids in older people the Turku elderly study 1991-2006. *Age Ageing*. 2011;40(2):280-283.
- 20. Wang WT, Hellkamp A, Doll JA, et al. Lipid Testing and Statin Dosing After Acute Myocardial Infarction. *J Am Heart Assoc.* Vol 72018.
- 21. Silva M, Matthews ML, Jarvis C, et al. Meta-analysis of drug-induced adverse events associated with intensive-dose statin therapy. *Clin Ther.* 2007;29(2):253-260.
- 22. Rodondi N, Peng T, Karter AJ, et al. Therapy Modifications in Response to Poorly Controlled Hypertension, Dyslipidemia, and Diabetes Mellitus. *Annals of internal medicine*. 2006;144(7):475-484.
- 23. Cabrera MAS, de Andrade SM, Mesas AE. A prospective study of risk factors for cardiovascular events among the elderly. *Clin Interv Aging*. 2012;7:463-468.
- 24. Melloni C, Shah BR, Ou FS, et al. Lipid-lowering intensification and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol achievement from hospital admission to 1-year follow-up after an acute coronary syndrome event: results from the Medications ApplIed aNd SusTAINed Over Time (MAINTAIN) registry. *Am Heart J.* 2010;160(6):1121-1129, 1129.e1121.
- 25. Olotu BS, Shepherd MD, Novak S, et al. Use of Statins and the Risk of Incident Diabetes: A Retrospective Cohort Study. *Am J Cardiovasc Drugs*. 2016;16(5):377-390.
- 26. Pathirana TI, Jackson CA. Socioeconomic status and multimorbidity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Aust N Z J Public Health*. 2018;42(2):186-194.
- 27. Wu WH, Yang L, Peng FH, et al. Lower Socioeconomic Status Is Associated with Worse Outcomes in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2013;187(3):303-310.
- 28. Booth JN, 3rd, Colantonio LD, Chen L, et al. Statin Discontinuation, Reinitiation, and Persistence Patterns Among Medicare Beneficiaries After Myocardial Infarction: A Cohort Study. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes*. 2017;10(10).

4.10 Figures and Tables

Figure 1. Derivation of final patient cohort



	Patients without	Patients with an	
Variable	up-titration	up-titration	P-value
	(n = 12,544)	(n = 1,816)	
Age group			
65 – 69 years	4198 (33.47%)	838 (46.15%)	
70 – 74 years	3,816 (30.42%)	513 (28.25%)	< 0001
75 – 79	2,422 (19.31%)	267 (14.70%)	<.0001
80 and above	2,108 (16.80%)	198 (10.90%)	
Female sex	7,198 (57.38%)	1,067 (58.76%)	0.2684
Low income subsidy	5,412 (43.14%)	857 (47.19%)	0.0012
Presence of comorbidities			
ASCVD	10,542 (84.04%)	1,463 (80.56%)	0.0002
Diabetes	5,529 (44.08%)	804 (44.27%)	0.8749
Hypertension	7,057 (56.26%)	1,027 (56.55%)	0.8128
Inflammatory conditions	237 (1.89%)	24 (1.32%)	0.0905
Myalgia	170 (1.36%)	20 (1.10%)	0.3761
Dementia	402 (3.20%)	46 (2.53%)	0.1239
Chronic kidney disease	3,108 (24.78%)	395 (21.75%)	0.0050
CMS Risk score, Mean (SD)	1.32 (1.30)	1.24 (1.20)	0.0002
Hospitalizations in pre-index			
None	9,182 (73.20)	1,352 (74.45%)	
One	2,103 (16.76)	283 (15.58%)	0.4321
More than one	1,259 (10.04)	181 (9.97%)	
Pre-index patterns			
Pre-index up-titration	1,615 (12.87%)	183 (10.08%)	<.0001
Pre-index down-titration	755 (6.02%)	181 (9.97%)	<.0001
Baseline adherence (PDC) >0.80	2,362 (18.83%)	348 (19.16%)	0.7344
Treatment type			
Prevalent vs new user	11,648 (92.86%)	1,650 (90.86%)	0.0024
Pre-index triglyceride use	1,048 (8.35%)	155 (8.54%)	0.7951
Baseline drug type			
Non-statin	134 (1.07%)	40 (2.20%)	
Statin	12,293 (98.00%)	1,773 (97.63%)	<.0001
At least 1 statin	117 (0.93%)	3 (0.17%)	

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of patients who received a lipid lowering therapy uptitration versus not.

Variable	Odds Ratio (95% Confidence Interval)	P-value	
Age group			
70 – 74 years vs 65 – 69	0.686 (0.608 - 0.773)		
75 – 79 vs 65 – 69	0.567 (0.488 - 0.658)	<.0001	
80 and above vs 65 – 69	0.494 (0.416 - 0.586)		
Female vs male sex	1.039 (0.938 - 1.150)	0.4630	
Low income subsidy vs not	1.192 (1.076 - 1.321)	0.0008	
Presence of comorbidities			
ASCVD	0.747 (0.632 - 0.883)	0.0006	
Diabetes	1.092 (0.974 - 1.224)	0.1313	
Hypertension	1.137 (1.008 - 1.283)	0.0364	
Inflammatory conditions	0.693 (0.452 - 1.063)	0.0931	
Myalgia	0.769 (0.479 - 1.235)	0.2776	
Dementia	1.009 (0.735 - 1.386)	0.9539	
Chronic kidney disease	0.974 (0.857 - 1.107)	0.6820	
CMS Risk score	0.930 (0.874 - 0.989)	0.0202	
Hospitalizations in pre-index			
1 vs none	0.966 (0.839 - 1.113)	0.4730	
More than 1 vs none	1.095 (0.918 - 1.307)		
Pre-index patterns			
Pre-index up-titration	0.699 (0.591 - 0.826)	<.0001	

Table 2. Results of the multivariable logistic regression identifying predictors of lipidlowering therapy up-titration in the overall sample.

Pre-index down-titration	1.647 (1.384 - 1.961)	<.0001
Baseline adherence (PDC) >0.80	1.102 (0.970 - 1.253)	0.1369
Treatment type		
Prevalent vs new user	0.778 (0.650 - 0.931)	0.0060
Pre-index triglyceride use	1.003 (0.839 - 1.201)	0.9698
Baseline drug type		
Statin vs non-statin	0.431 (0.299 - 0.620)	. 0001
At least 1 statin vs non-statin	0.068 (0.020 - 0.225)	<.0001

Table 3. Results of the multivariable logistic regression in the subgroup of patients with an LDL-C value in the pre-index 180 days \geq 70 mg/dl

Variable	Odds Ratio (95% Confidence Interval)	P-value	
LDL-C group			
71-99 mg/dl vs 100 mg/dl and above	1.681 (1.388 - 2.035)	<.0001	
Age group			
70 – 74 years vs 65 – 69	0.712 (0.573 - 0.886)		
75 – 79 vs 65 – 69	0.654 (0.507 - 0.843)	<.0001	
80 and above vs 65 – 69	0.483 (0.357 - 0.652)		
Female vs male sex	1.182 (0.978 - 1.429)	0.0832	
Low income subsidy vs not	1.339 (1.105 - 1.622)	0.0029	
Presence of comorbidities			
Diabetes	1.218 (1.013 - 1.465)	0.0362	
Hypertension	1.009 (0.835 - 1.219)	0.9262	
Inflammatory conditions	0.654 (0.335 - 1.275)	0.2124	
Myalgia	0.615 (0.274 - 1.379)	0.2382	
Dementia	0.863 (0.503 - 1.479)	0.5911	
Chronic kidney disease	1.033 (0.842 - 1.268))	0.7549	
CMS Risk score	0.857 (0.757 - 0.969)	0.0141	
Hospitalizations in pre-index			
1 vs none	1.215 (0.968 - 1.525)	0.1095	
More than 1 vs none	1.274 (0.952 - 1.707)	0.1085	
Pre-index patterns			
Pre-index up titration	0.649 (0.482 - 0.874)	0.0044	
Pre-index down-titration	2.053 (1.526 - 2.764)	<.0001	
Baseline adherence (PDC) >0.80	1.415 (1.125 - 1.780)	0.0030	
Treatment type			
Prevalent vs new user	1.154 (0.844 - 1.577)	0.3707	
Pre-index triglyceride use	0.808 (0.576 - 1.134)	0.2179	
Baseline drug type			
Statin vs non-statin	0.474 (0.282 - 0.796)	0.0061	
At least 1 statin vs non-statin	0.105 (0.013 - 0.827)	0.0001	

5 Manuscript 3

5.1 Title: Does lipid lowering therapy up-titration in older adults impact medication adherence?

Authors

Aisha Vadhariya, PhD

Graduate student

Department of Pharmaceutical Health Outcomes and Policy

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: aishavadhariya@gmail.com

Phone: 832-917-4568

Kim K. Birtcher, PharmD, MS, BCPS (AQ Cardiology), CDE, FNLA

Clinical Professor

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: kbirtcher@uh.edu

Phone: 832-842-8372

Susan M. Abughosh, PhD

Associate Professor

Department of Pharmaceutical Health Outcomes and Policy

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: smabugho@central.uh.edu

Phone: 832-842-8395

Manvi Sharma, RPh, MBA, PhD

Assistant Professor

Department of Pharmacy Administration

School of Pharmacy the University of Mississippi

Email: msharma1@olemiss.edu

Phone: 662-915-2173

Hua Chen, MD, PhD

Associate Professor

Department of Pharmaceutical Health Outcomes and Policy

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: hchen20@uh.edu

Phone: 832-842-8355

Michael L. Johnson, PhD

Associate Professor

Department of Pharmaceutical Health Outcomes and Policy

University of Houston College of Pharmacy

Email: mjohnso8@central.uh.edu

Phone: 832-842-8353

5.2 Abstract

Background: Lipid lowering therapy (LLT) up-titration and adherence improvement both aim to increase the potency of treatment received by the patient thereby augmenting LDL-C reduction. However the impact of LLT modifications on medication adherence is not clear, especially in older adults where additional considerations due to frailty, altered pharmacokinetics and risk of adverse events may affect the response to the up-titrated treatment as well as negatively impact medication adherence. However up-titrtion can also improve adherence by acting as a medication management intervention to the patient and increasing disease awareness and risk management by the patient.

Objective: To identify the impact of treatment up-titration and other modifications (down-titration, switching) on medication adherence in patients on LLT.

Methods: This was a retrospective cohort study conducted in adults ≥ 65 years and enrolled for at least 2 years after their first LLT use between January 2016 and May 2018. Patients were required to have LLT use one year after the first use and were categorized into 3 groups based on their medication refill as: (a) patients with up-titration (UpT) (b) patients with no treatment changes (NoC) (c) patients with other treatment changes (OthC). Adherence to LLT was measured as proportion of days covered (PDC) with a value between 0 - 1 for each month. Piecewise regression with repeated value of monthly PDC as the outcome was used to evaluate the change in monthly adherence prior to as well as following the treatment changes. The covariates added to the analytical model included age, gender, CMS risk score, low income subsidization and chronic comorbidities.

Results: There were 10,038 patients in the final sample. In the first year, all the groups had a decrease in mean PDC each month with the highest decrease of 1.4% for NoC followed by 1.1%

for UpT and 0.9% for OthC groups. The estimate for the piecewise variable was positive and statistically significant indicating that the PDC improved after the first year in all groups. The mean increase in PDC in the second year was 0.3% in the NoC group, 1% for the UpT group and 1.9% for the OthC group. The differences in PDC change were not statistically significant between the UpT and NoC group, but were significant between the OthC and NoC group.

Conclusion: Treatment modifications like switching and down-titration are likely to be performed to address tolerability issues and therefore were associated with the greatest improvement in adherence followed by the up-titration group. The improvement in slope of adherence over time seen with medication management could be interpreted as an intervention. Regular monitoring could prevent the decline in adherence to chronic medications which is observed over time.

5.3 Introduction

It has been repeatedly demonstrated that low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) is a mutable risk factor for cardiovascular disease, the reduction of which corresponds to reduction of cardiovascular events. ^{1,2} There is an increased emphasis on LDL-C lowering from the results of the newer clinical trials in which the treatment groups had LDL-C mean values below 50 mg/dl. ³⁻

The 2018 American College of Cardiology and American Heart Association (ACC/AHA) guideline recommended lipid lowering therapies (LLT) include statins, ezetimibe, bile acid sequestrants, ezetimibe and Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) inhibitors. Statins are the guideline recommended primary agents for lipid-lowering, but adding a non-statin therapy is reasonable in patients with atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases (ASCVD) and LDL-C values \geq 70 mg/dl despite using maximally tolerated statin.⁷ The guidelines have differentiated

statins into low-, moderate- and high- intensity based on the expected percentage reduction in LDL-C from their use. In patients who require incremental LDL-C lowering to meet lipid thresholds, the statin dose or intensity can be increased. Alternatively, if the patient is already on the highest intensity statin, or has poor tolerability to a statin, a non-statin drug can be added to the regimen. The dose of the non-statin also can be increased to obtain further LDL-C reduction.

Failure to up-titrate LLT in patients who are not at goal could result in suboptimal LDL-C lowering. Often times, the term clinical inertia has been used to characterize the failure of providers to modify therapy based on guidelines when the patients have suboptimal response from existing medications.^{8,9} Even though clinical inertia appears to be physician behavior, it may actually result from various physician, patient or system related factors. Milman et al. have summarized some of the patient and provider factors leading to inertia.⁹ Patient factors include older age, lower life expectancy and presence of comorbidities. Provider factors include lack of knowledge about practice guidelines or lack of time.⁹ The 2016 ACC decision Pathway stated that when patients do not achieve the expected LDL-C reduction from LLT, medication adherence should be addressed before intensifying treatment.¹⁰ Medication adherence is an important factor which affects achievement of the maximal therapeutic effect from the LLT and achievement of lipid targets. Poor adherence has a negative effect on patient outcomes as well as disease-related costs.^{11,12}

Studies have been conducted to assess the relationship between medication adherence and treatment up-titration. Pittman et al. found that non-adherence to statins was associated with an increased likelihood of up-titration.¹³ Another study in type 2 diabetes patients found that patients with lowest adherence were less likely to have treatment up-titration.¹⁴ Virani et al. had similar results in a CVD cohort, where non-adherent patients were less likely to be intensified despite elevated LDL-C levels.¹⁵ Hiesler et al. found that poor patient adherence had little impact on

physician's decision to titrate treatment, but the lack thereof was associated with worse outcomes.¹⁶ Improving CV outcomes is a two pronged approach where both ensuring high adherence as well as timely up-titration are important in effectively reducing the risk of adverse outcomes.

Management of therapy which includes switching, medication up-titration or down-titration may include a window of repeated exposure to the healthcare system. This could include lipid testing, physician and pharmacy visits which would allow opportunities for patient education and clarification which in turn may positively impact a patient's adherence. Adherence to medications can be affected by physician-patient communication and an increased contact with physicians.¹⁷ A study in Canada identified physician visits, cholesterol tests, incident myocardial infarction and other CV related hospitalizations as predictors of re-initiation of statin treatment among patients who had interruption of therapy for 90 days or greater.¹⁸

Older adults are more likely to be on multiple medications, have altered pharmacokinetics, higher risk of medication-related adverse events; therefore up-titration may affect the adherence in older adults differently as compared to the overall adult population.¹⁹ On one hand there is more literature on the importance of LLT in cardiovascular risk reduction in older adults,^{20,21} while on the other hand, increased medication complexity is also being associated with increased frailty.²² As older adults are at high risk for cardiovascular events as well as adverse effects of therapy, understanding the effect of up-titration on adherence in these patients is important.

The literature about the impact of treatment up-titration on adherence and vice versa, as described above, has inconsistent results. Although there is some evidence that treatment modification can potentially affect adherence, we did not find any studies specifically assessing the association of LLT up-titration with change in medication adherence measured longitudinally. Both up-titration and medication adherence however, affect the cumulative exposure of the patient to the drug which affects disease control and management.

The objective of this study was therefore, to assess the effect of treatment up-titration on change in adherence in older adults on lipid lowering therapy and whether it could compromise or enhance the ability to attain treatment goals.

5.4 Methods

5.4.1 Data source and study design

This study was performed using administrative claims data from a Medicare Advantage Plan in Texas. The database included claims from January 2016 extending to May 2018 and had patient demographic information, pharmacy refills, and medical diagnosis from outpatient visits as ICD-10-CM and CPT codes as well as laboratory tests and results for a subgroup of the sample.

This study used a retrospective cohort design and aimed to capture changes in adherence measured as proportion of days covered (PDC) over time with treatment up-titration.

5.4.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria and study groups

The study was focused on older adults and only included patients aged 65 and above. The inclusion criteria were based on the study design which is presented in Figure 1. The study period for each patient was two years with a one-year pre-index period and one-year follow-up period for adherence measurement.

The study categorized patients into 3 groups (a) patients with a treatment up-titration at the index date (UpT) (b) patients with no changes on or before the index date (NoC) (c) patients with other treatment changes, i.e. switching or treatment down-titration on or before the index date (OthC).

As shown in Figure 1, in order to operationalize the three study groups, patients were identified at the first LLT refill in the data and were required to have another refill of any LLT at least 360 days after the first but before June 2017. The screening for another refill ensured a 1 year LLT-use for all patients. The index date for patients was the date of treatment up-titration > 360 days after the first LLT use but before June 2017. For patients who did not have a treatment up-titration in this duration, the first refill > 360 days after LLT use but before June 2017 was identified as the index date. Given the one year follow-up requirement and the dates of data availability, May 31 2017 was the last date a patient could be indexed for the study. Once the index date was isolated, patients were required to have 1 year pre-index and 1-year follow-up continuous enrollment.

Patients with a treatment up-titration less than 360 days after the first LLT use were excluded. The reason for this exclusion was to ensure a complete 1-year pre-index period to measure adherence prior to up-titration. As the study intended to measure treatment modifications, patients with co-morbidities such as rhabdomyolysis, end stage renal disease (ESRD) and cirrhosis which affect LLT modifications were excluded. Patients with a combination of LLT were also excluded as some of these patients may not have opportunities to up-titrate further.

5.4.3 Study measures

Treatment up-titration: This was the main exposure of interest and was defined in the study as an increase in the intensity of the statin, an increase in the dose of the LLT, addition of another LLT to an existing regimen. Each of the three measures are defined below:

a. Statin intensification: this modification could only occur with statin medications based their classification in the ACC/AHA guidelines. The guidelines identify statins as being low, moderate and high intensity statins based on the drug and its daily dose ⁷. Intensification was the escalation

in dose intensity (low to moderate, moderate to high, or low to high) between consecutive claims for the index statin.

- *b. Dose increase:* defined as increase in daily dose of the LLT. If a change for a statin drug was identified as an intensification, then the same change was not considered as a dose increase.
- c. Add-on: use of a new LLT with continued use of the previous LLT.

Other treatment patterns: The control group which could have other treatment patterns included switching and treatment down-titration.

- *a. Switching:* defined refill of another LLT the without continued use of the previous therapy.
- *b. Treatment down-titration:* This measure was the opposite of treatment up-titration and included decrease in the intensity of statin or dose decrease of the LLT.

5.4.4 Outcome

The outcome was the "monthly change in adherence" which was calculated using PDC ranging from 0 - 1 for each month. The PDC was calculated for 9 months before the index date in monthly intervals. As all patients refilled at the index date and LLT therapies are often refilled as 90 day supplies, the PDC in the 3 months after index date would be close to 1 for all groups. Therefore the study measured PDC after an interval of 90 days from index i.e. from post-index month 4 till the end of 1 year follow-up providing 9 monthly measurements of follow-up PDCs as seen in Figure 1 generating 18 repeated values of PDC which would be assessed as the outcome.

5.4.5 Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics

T-tests and chi-square tests were used to compare the baseline demographics across the three study groups. The mean value of PDC in the 9 month pre-index and follow-up intervals for each group

were also calculated and the pre-post differences within each group were assessed using paired Ttests.

Mixed model

The hypothesis of the study was that the change in adherence over time would be significantly different after treatment up-titration and the pattern of adherence change in the UpT group would be significantly different than the NoC group. A repeated measures mixed model was applied to compare the change in adherence across the 3 study groups. The outcome of the model were the repeated values of PDC for all the 18 months (9 pre-index and 9 follow-up). The primary independent variables were the study group and the month variable which indicated time and could have values from 1 to 18 for the months in which PDC was evaluated. A piecewise component was added to the model to allow a change in slope at the index date. The piecewise variable or spline added to the model had the value 0 for the months before index date and changed value to 1 for all months after the index date accommodating the change in PDC over time that may occur after up-titration. Interaction terms between (a) month and study group and (b) piecewise variable and study group were added to the model to allow the study groups to have different rates of PDC change. As there were 3 study groups, the change in slope of each group post-index could be compared to pre-index as well as the differences across the study groups could be compared.²³ As the data had repeated observations for each patient, to account for the correlation among variables, a covariance structure had to be specified in the model. The Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) value of the models assuming different covariance matrices was compared and the model with the lowest AIC was used for model building.

Covariates
Even though every patient had pre- and post- measurements and served as their own control, the mixed model controlled for demographic characteristics like age, gender, low income subsidization (LIS) for pharmacy. Presence of comorbidities including ASCVD, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, chronic kidney disease (CKD), congestive heart failure (CHF) and the presence of inflammatory conditions (lupus, rheumatoid arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis) were included in the model. The Center of Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) risk score was also added to the model. The CMS risk score accounts for the medication burden and disease severity and was provided for each patient by the health plan as it is calculated from a large pool of beneficiaries. All covariates were measured in the pre-index period and were specified as fixed effects. All analyses were carried out using Statistical Analysis Software, version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC).

Subgroup analysis

To further explore whether the changes in adherence after up-titration varied based on patients' baseline adherence or LDL-C values two additional subgroup analysis were performed: (a) Patients with a pre-index mean PDC of < 0.8 (b) Patients with an LDL-C value over 100 mg/dl in the 180-day pre-index period.

5.5 **Results**

There were 31,513 patients identified with at least one LLT refill in the study period of which 13,685 had another refill > 360 days of the first LLT refill and no treatment up-titration between the two dates. After applying all inclusion and exclusion criteria the final cohort, as shown in Figure 2, comprised of 10,038 patients. Of these most (69%) patients had no pre-index changes

(NoC), 23.8% had other treatment changes (OthC) and 7.2% patients had a treatment up-titration (UpT) at the index date.

The baseline characteristics of the three samples are compared in Table 1. Patients in the NoC group were older, fewer of them were female and fewer had LIS as compared to the other two groups. In terms of comorbidities, more patients in the NoC group had ASCVD, hypertension, CKD but had a lower mean CMS risk score. The mean values of PDC in the pre-index and follow-up period for each of the groups are also presented in Figure 3. The mean PDC of the NoC group was highest and its value slightly dropped over the follow-up period. The lowest mean PDC was observed in the group with the OthC group. The UpT and OthC groups showed a significant improvement in the PDC in the follow-up period.

Figure 4 represents the mean monthly PDCs over the 18 month study duration with a vertical line representing the index period. Much similar to the mean PDC values, the graph of NoC group consistently had the highest PDC value over the entire study duration, followed by UpT and OthC group. The differences in the groups were reduced however, in the follow-up period as all the slopes moved closer.

Mixed model results

The unstructured covariance matrix had lowest AIC values as compared to models with compound symmetry, first order autoregressive or autoregressive heterogeneous covariance matrices and was therefore used in the final model. Addition of covariates further lowered the AIC values and the variables in the final model are presented in Table 2 along with the interpretation of beta estimates. The outcome was PDC and therefore has been interpreted as a change in percentage. As the group variable had interaction terms with the month and the piecewise variable, the estimates could not

be interpreted without including the betas from the interaction terms. The p-values for the UpT and OthC in Table 2 are values from the contrast estimates identifying the difference in the estimates between UpT and NoC as well as OthC and NoC groups.

The NoC group was the group with the highest mean PDC at baseline evident from the intercept differences between the groups. All the groups had a small decrease in PDC each month with the highest decrease of 1.4% for NoC followed by 1.1% for UpT and 0.9% for OthC groups. While the change in PDC by month was statistically significant, the difference between the NoC and the UpT group was not significantly different. The estimate for the piecewise variable was positive and statistically significant indicating that the PDC improved after the index date in all groups. The estimates represented in the Table 2 were obtained after adding all interaction terms and also demonstrate an increase in PDC for all groups. For e.g., the PDC slope of the NoC group changed from a decrease by 1.4% each month prior to index to an increase by 0.3% each month after index. The mean monthly increase in PDC was 1% for the UpT group and 1.9% for the OthC group, but were differences in PDC change were not significantly different between the UpT and NoC group, but were different between the OthC and NoC group.

The interpretation of the fixed variables were similar to a linear regression model and is presented in Table 2. The covariates increasing age, female sex, low income subsidy, ASCVD were associated negatively with PDC. The presence of comorbidities hypertension and chronic kidney disease were associated with an increase in PDC.

5.5.1 Subgroup analyses

Results from the subgroup analysis can be found in Table 3. In the subgroup with pre-index LDL-C > 100 (n = 1,031), the direction of PDC changes were similar to the overall group. However, the PDC change after index date were not significantly different in either the UpT group or the OthC group compared to the NoC group indicating similar levels of improvement in adherence among uncontrolled patients at the index refill irrespective of the treatment pattern. On the other hand in the subgroup which was non-adherent (i.e. PDC < 0.8) in the pre-index period (n = 3,479), both the UpT and the OthC groups were significantly different from the NoC group and the magnitude of the PDC changes was greater than the overall sample.

5.6 **Discussion**

This study mapped changes in adherence after treatment up-titration and compared it to patients who had either no changes or other treatment changes. Patients with no treatment changes had the highest PDC in the entire study period, but also had a greater magnitude of decrease over time as compared to the other groups. On the other hand, patients with other changes had the lowest mean PDC but the greatest improvement in PDC over time. All groups had a statistically significant improvement in PDC after the index date. The difference in PDC between the patients who received an up-titration and patients who had no treatment changes was not statistically significant either before or after the index date.

The decrease in PDC over time represents the course of chronic medication-taking behavior and could affect disease management.²⁴ Patients in the no treatment change group were older, had more comorbidities but still had a lower CMS Risk score indicating lower overall resource utilization. Some studies have found that patients with more medications or comorbidities have been associated with higher adherence.²⁵ The patient characteristics and adherence patterns of the no change group appear to represent patients on stable lipid lowering therapy.

Patients in the other change group had the lowest adherence but greatest improvement after the index date. This group was characterized by treatment changes like switching and down-titrations, which are more likely to be made to address tolerability, safety, cost and formulary issues or concerns. Simplification of medication regimen has been found to improve medication adherence.^{26,27} Thus, these changes are expected to positively impact treatment adherence as compared to up-titration which addresses the need for incremental lipid-lowering. In either cases, it could be expected that the medication management may provide greater opportunities for educational, risk communication and self-management discussions with the healthcare providers, all of which have been proven as effective techniques to improve adherence.²⁸ Thiebaud et al. found that new statin users who switched were less likely to be compliant which would reduce their ability to achieve treatment benefit.²⁹ However, they measured both switching and adherence in the same duration. Our study teases out the two parts and shows that switching could be a change resulting from non-compliance rather than the cause.

Poor adherence has been associated with decreased likelihood of treatment up-titration in some studies, ^{14,15} while other literature shows the opposite effect of adherence on likelihood of up-titration.^{13,30} Both up-titration and adherence however, serve the same purpose of help patient receive maximal treatment effect and meet clinical endpoints to reduce cardiovascular risk. In the subgroup analysis of patients who were not controlled at baseline, no such associations were observed. The results of the subgroup analysis were similar to the overall sample, and the patients who did not have any change still had a consistently higher PDC as compared to patients who received an up-titration indicating that adherence is inherent patient behavior and may not affect the physicians' decision to up-titrate LLT.

We also believe this study may have experienced a ceiling effect because the mean PDC of all the groups combined during the pre-index period was 80%, with limited scope for improvement. This was confirmed to a certain extent in the subgroup analysis with mean pre-index PDC <0.8 in which the magnitude of improvement of PDC after the index date was greater in all groups.

Treatment up-titration in older adults is challenging due to multiple considerations such as medication complexity, patient risk and frailty considerations. However, this study showed an increase in adherence in patients after up-titration as compared to before up-titration which was the primary hypothesis of this study. Improvements of different magnitude were seen across all study groups indicating that in this sample of older adults, medication management has the scope of improving adherence.

5.7 Limitations

This study was conducted using a Managed Care Plan population database, where adherence to statins is a triple-weighted star measure,³¹ and several interventions may be ongoing at provider and patient levels to maintain or improve adherence which impact the study findings and generalizability. The study design requirement of LLT refill at two time points at least 1 year apart may have resulted in a sample with higher mean adherence than is representative of the health plan. None of the patients in the study were new LLT users due to the requirement of pre-index LLT use in the study design, but the number of years the patients were using LLT which affects adherence could not be assessed. The slope of the PDC was affected by the way PDC was measured. The calculation method assumes that patients are adherent till they run out of the medication and then become completely non-adherent, which may not be the case in the real world. Methods to improve PDC calculations can be incorporated to improve the ability of the model to determine changes in adherence over time. The reason for treatment changes was not known. Other

factors such as hospitalization, or diagnosis of a new condition may have led to the treatment change in which case, the change would be a mediator in the pathway rather than the cause for change in adherence. Despite these limitations, this was a unique study that followed patients over time and mapped changes in adherence associated with treatment modifications.

5.8 **Conclusion**

To summarize, this study evaluated if treatment changes, particularly treatment up-titration could affect LLT adherence. The improvement in the slope of adherence over time seen with medication management could be possibly treated as an intervention. There have been a large number of interventions evaluated to improve adherence with only one out of two found to be generally effective. This study attempts to show that regular patient monitoring which includes medication management could be a means of ensuring that patient adherence does not decline over time. More studies however, are needed to understand the duration of this effect and understanding the reasons for the treatment changes.

5.9 **References**

- 1. Silverman MG, Ference BA, Im K, et al. Association Between Lowering LDL-C and Cardiovascular Risk Reduction Among Different Therapeutic Interventions: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA*. 2019;316(12):1289-1297.
- 2. Collaborators CTTC, ctt@ctsu.ox.ac.uk, ctt@ctc.usyd.edu.au. The effects of lowering LDL cholesterol with statin therapy in people at low risk of vascular disease: meta-analysis of individual data from 27 randomised trials. *The Lancet*. 2012;380(9841):581-590.
- 3. Sabatine MS, Giugliano RP, Keech AC, et al. Evolocumab and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease. *http://dxdoiorg/101056/NEJMoa1615664*. 2017.
- 4. Schwartz GG, Steg PG, Szarek M, et al. Alirocumab and Cardiovascular Outcomes after Acute Coronary Syndrome. *N Engl J Med.* 2018;379(22):2097-2107.
- 5. Cannon CP, Blazing MA, Giugliano RP, et al. Ezetimibe Added to Statin Therapy after Acute Coronary Syndromes. *http://dxdoiorg/101056/NEJMoa1410489*. 2015.
- 6. Serban MC, Banach M, Mikhailidis DP. Clinical implications of the IMPROVE-IT trial in the light of current and future lipid-lowering treatment options. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. 2016;17(3):369-380.
- 7. Grundy SM, Stone NJ, Bailey AL, et al. Guideline on the Management of Blood Cholesterol. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2018.

- 8. Phillips LS, Branch WT, Cook CB, et al. Clinical inertia. *Annals of internal medicine*. 2001;135(9):825-834.
- 9. Milman T, Joundi RA, Alotaibi NM, Saposnik G. Clinical inertia in the pharmacological management of hypertension: A systematic review and meta-analysis2018; No. 25.
- 10. Lloyd-Jones DM, Morris PB, Ballantyne CM, et al. 2016 ACC Expert Consensus Decision Pathway on the Role of Non-Statin Therapies for LDL-Cholesterol Lowering in the Management of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Risk: A Report of the American College of Cardiology Task Force on Clinical Expert Consensus Documents. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 2016;68(1):92-125.
- 11. De Vera MA, Bhole V, Burns LC, Lacaille D. Impact of statin adherence on cardiovascular disease and mortality outcomes: a systematic review. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2014;78(4):684-698.
- 12. Bitton A, Choudhry NK, Matlin OS, Swanton K, Shrank WH. The impact of medication adherence on coronary artery disease costs and outcomes: a systematic review. *The American journal of medicine*. 2013;126(4):357.e357-357.e327.
- 13. Pittman DG, Fenton C, Chen W, Haffner S, Pendergrass M. Relation of statin nonadherence and treatment intensification. *The American journal of cardiology*. 2012;110(10):1459-1463.
- 14. Grant R, Adams AS, Trinacty CM, et al. Relationship between patient medication adherence and subsequent clinical inertia in type 2 diabetes glycemic management. *Diabetes care*. 2007;30(4):807-812.
- 15. Virani SS, Woodard LD, Chitwood SS, et al. Frequency and correlates of treatment intensification for elevated cholesterol levels in patients with cardiovascular disease. *Am Heart J.* 2011;162(4):725-732.e721.
- 16. Heisler M, Hogan MM, Hofer TP, Schmittdiel JA, Pladevall M, Kerr EA. When more is not better: treatment intensification among hypertensive patients with poor medication adherence. *Circulation*. 2008;117(22):2884-2892.
- 17. Maningat P, Gordon BR, Breslow JL. How Do We Improve Patient Compliance and Adherence to Long-Term Statin Therapy? *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2013;15(1):291.
- 18. Brookhart MA, Patrick AR, Schneeweiss S, et al. Physician follow-up and provider continuity are associated with long-term medication adherence: a study of the dynamics of statin use. *Archives of internal medicine*. 2007;167(8):847-852.
- 19. Ayan M, Pothineni NV, Siraj A, Mehta JL. Cardiac drug therapy—considerations in the elderly. *J Geriatr Cardiol*. 2016;13(12):992-997.
- 20. Afilalo J, Duque G, Steele R, Jukema JW, de Craen AJ, Eisenberg MJ. Statins for secondary prevention in elderly patients: a hierarchical bayesian meta-analysis. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 2008;51(1):37-45.
- 21. Ruscica M, Macchi C, Pavanello C, Corsini A, Sahebkar A, Sirtori CR. Appropriateness of statin prescription in the elderly. *European journal of internal medicine*. 2018;50:33-40.
- 22. Veronese N, Stubbs B, Noale M, et al. Polypharmacy Is Associated With Higher Frailty Risk in Older People: An 8-Year Longitudinal Cohort Study. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*. 2017;18(7):624-628.
- 23. Huang Q. Hands-on Tutorial for Piecewise Linear Mixed-effects Models Using SAS®PROC MIXED. St Jude Children's Research Hospital, Memphis, TN;2015.
- 24. Krousel-Wood M, Joyce C, Holt E, et al. Predictors of decline in medication adherence: Results from CoSMO. *Hypertension*. 2011;58(5):804-810.

- 25. Gazmararian JA, Kripalani S, Miller MJ, Echt KV, Ren J, Rask K. Factors associated with medication refill adherence in cardiovascular-related diseases: a focus on health literacy. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2006;21(12):1215-1221.
- 26. Clifford-Middel M. Review: simplifying dosing regimens appears to improve treatment adherence in patients with high blood pressure in ambulatory settings. *Evidence-Based Nursing*. 2004(7):110.
- 27. Atreja A, Bellam N, Levy SR. Strategies to Enhance Patient Adherence: Making it Simple. *MedGenMed.* 2005;7(1):4.
- 28. Costa E, Giardini A, Savin M, et al. Interventional tools to improve medication adherence: review of literature. *Patient Prefer Adherence*. 2015;9:1303-1314.
- 29. Thiebaud P, Patel BV, Nichol MB, Berenbeim DM. The effect of switching on compliance and persistence: the case of statin treatment. *The American journal of managed care*. 2005;11(11):670-674.
- 30. Voorham J, Haaijer-Ruskamp FM, Wolffenbuttel BHR, Stolk RP, Denig P. Medication Adherence Affects Treatment Modifications in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. *Clinical Therapeutics*. 2011;33(1):121-134.
- 31. Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Part C and D Performance Data. 2019; https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Prescription-Drug-Coverage/PrescriptionDrugCovGenIn/PerformanceData.html.

5.10 Figures and Tables



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the study design

Figure 2. Flow chart of cohort derivation





Figure 3. Mean PDC values in the pre-index and follow-up 9 months across the 3 study groups

Figure 4. Mean PDC over the study period across the 3 groups with a vertical line at the index



Table 1. Baseline demographic and clinical c	characteristics of the sample
--	-------------------------------

Variable	Index up-titration (n = 725)	Other pre-index changes (n = 2,395)	No change (n = 6,918)	P-value		
Age (Mean, SD)	73.99 (5.65)	74.98 (6.34)	75.71 (6.37)	< 0.0001		
Female gender	433 (59.7%)	1,400 (58.5%)	3,835 (55.4%)	0.0068		
Low income Subsidy	337 (46.5%)	1,031 (43.1%)	2,844 (41.1%)	0.0095		
Comorbidities						
Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease	552 (76.1%)	1,949 (81.4%)	5,955 (86.1%)	< 0.0001		
Hypertension	401 (55.3%)	1,367 (57.1%)	3,962 (57.3%)	0.5976		
Diabetes	292 (40.3%)	1,023 (42.7%)	3,156 (45.6%)	0.0027		
Hyperlipidemia	459 (63.3%)	1,562 (65.2%)	4,590 (66.4%)	0.1951		
Congestive heart failure	74 (10.2%)	269 (11.2%)	769 (11.1%)	0.7312		
Chronic kidney disease	177 (24.4%)	550 (23.0%)	1,780 (25.7%)	0.0248		
Obesity	65 (9.0%)	239 (10.0%)	755 (10.9%)	0.1553		
Inflammatory conditions	11 (1.5%)	47 (2.0%)	130 (1.9%)	0.739		
Dementia	28 (3.9%)	79 (3.3%)	232 (3.4%)	0.7484		
Myalgia	16 (2.2%)	35 (1.5%)	67 (1.0%)	0.0043		
CMS Risk Score (Mean, SD)	1.49 (1.09)	1.46 (1.06)	1.42 (0.97)	0.0402		
Intensity of statin among statin users						
Low intensity	199 (28.1%)	173 (7.5%)	927 (13.5%)			
Moderate intensity	401 (56.6%)	1,467 (63.2%)	4,362 (63.4%)	<0.0001		
High intensity	109 (15.4%)	682 (29.4%)	1,592 (23.1%)			

ASCVD: atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease; CMS: Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services

Variables	Parameters	Estimate (SE)	P-value	Interpretation	
Intercept terms		I			
NoC	β_0	1.011 (0.018)	<.0001	Mean PDC of group NoC at time 0 was above 100%	
UpT	$\beta_0 + \beta_1$	-0.138 (0.010)	<.0001	Mean PDC of group UpT at time 0 was 86%	
OthC	$\beta_0 + \beta_2$	-0.229 (0.006)	<.0001	Mean PDC of group UpT at time 0 was 77%	
Slope of adheren	ice in months b	efore index (Mor	nth 1 – Mo	nth 9)	
NoC	β ₃	-0.014 (0.000)	<.0001	Mean PDC decrease for each month was 1.4% for the first 9 months	
UpT	$\beta_3 + \beta_4$	-0.011 (0.000)	0.0885	Mean PDC decrease for each month was 1.1% for the first 9 months	
OthC	$\beta_3 + \beta_5$	-0.010 (0.000)	<.0001	Mean PDC decrease for each month was 0.9% for the first 9 months	
Slope of adheren	ice in months a	fter index (Montl	n 10 – Mor	nth 18)	
NoC	$\beta_6 + \beta_3$	0.003 (0.000)	<.0001	The mean PDC slope shifts after the index date with a mean PDC increase by 0.3% each month	
UpT	$ \begin{array}{c} \beta_6 + \beta_3 \\ + \beta_4 + \beta_7 \end{array} $	0.010 (0.000)	0.1512	The mean PDC slope shifts after the index date with a mean PDC increase by 1% each month	
OthC	$\beta_6 + \beta_3 \\ + \beta_5 + \beta_8$	0.018 (0.000)	<.0001	The mean PDC slope shifts after the index date with a mean PDC increase by 1.9% each month	
Fixed effect variables					
Age		-0.001 (0.00)	0.0148		
Female vs male	•	-0.013 (0.003)	< 0.0001		
LIS vs not	-	-0.007 (0.003)	0.0208	Fixed effects are interpreted similar to estimates	
ASCVD vs not	eta_9 to eta_{16}	-0.021 (0.006)	0.0003	in linear regression. A beta of -0.001 indicates a decrease of PDC by 1% with each unit increase in	
Diabetes vs not	1	0.002 (0.003)	0.6513	the fixed-effect variable	
Hyperlipidemia	1	0.007 (0.004)	0.0803		
Hypertension vs not		0.007 (0.003)	0.0462		

Table 2. Association between treatment changes and change in PDC

Inflammatory conditions versus not	0.003 (0.01)	0.8038	
CKD vs not	0.015 (0.004)	< 0.0001	
CHF vs not	0.003 (0.005)	0.6175	
CMS risk score	0.002 (0.002)	0.1765	

NoC: no change; UpT: up titration; OthC: other changes

PDC: proportion of days covered; LIS: low income subsidy: ASCVD: atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease; CMS: Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services; CKD: chronic kidney disease; CHF: congestive heart failure

		Subgroup with pre-index PDC <0.8		Subgroup with pre-index LDL-C > 100			
Variables	Parameters	Estimate (SE)	P-value	Estimate (SE)	P-value		
Intercept terms							
NoC	β ₀	0.856 (0.030)	<.0001	0.953 (0.092)	<.0001		
UpT	$\beta_0 + \beta_1$	0.637 (0.019)	<.0001	0.804 (0.028)	<.0001		
OthC	$\beta_0 + \beta_2$	0.586 (0.012)	<.0001	0.68 (0.021)	<.0001		
Slope of adherence	Slope of adherence in months before index (Month 1 – Month 9)						
NoC	β_3	-0.034 (0.001)	<.0001	-0.021 (0.002)	<.0001		
UpT	$\beta_3 + \beta_4$	-0.019 (0.003)	<.0001	-0.018 (0.004)	0.4297		
OthC	$\beta_3 + \beta_5$	-0.016 (0.002)	<.0001	-0.015 (0.003)	0.0444		
Slope of adherence in months after index (Month 10 – Month 18)							
NoC	$\beta_6 + \beta_3$	0.03 (0.002)	<.0001	0.01 (0.003)	<.0001		
UpT	$ \begin{array}{c} \beta_6 + \beta_3 + \beta_4 \\ + \beta_7 \end{array} $	0.059 (0.005)	0.0040	0.02 (0.007)	0.8063		
OthC	$ \begin{array}{c} \beta_6 + \beta_3 + \beta_5 \\ + \beta_8 \end{array} $	0.06 (0.003)	0.0001	0.023 (0.005)	0.1653		

Table 3. Association between treatment changes and PDC in specific subgroups

Fixed level covariates are not shown in this table

NoC = No change group; UpT = up-titration group; OthC = other treatment changed

The estimates are mean PDCs and can be interpreted as (beta*100)%

6 Conclusion

The increasing prevalence of older adults with cardiovascular risk and the increased emphasis on lowering of LDL-C for which long term data is not available make it important to understand the current patterns of LLT use in older adults. While it is known that higher levels of LDL-C are associated with higher risk for cardiovascular events, the lower values seen in the recent clinical trials have not been achieved before and their long term effects are not clear. The first aim intended to identify LLT use and found that most patients were on statins monotherapy with moderate intensity stating being the most widely used. In terms of patterns of LLT use it was found that new users were at higher risk of discontinuations and interruptions and require greater attention to ensure appropriate use and adherence to LLT. Adults aged 75 years and above had very few treatment modifications which included both up and down-titrations. The predictors of up-titration in older adults were assessed in Aim 2 and included presence of hypertension, diabetes and preindex down-titrations. Older and sicker patients were less likely to get up-titrated. The patterns of LLT use as well as predictors of up-titration in these patients were reassuring because no guideline discordant practices could be identified. Risk factors, age and current medication behavior were being accounted for by physicians treating older adults in this health plan. The results also identified cycles of up-titration and down-titration in patients and emphasized that LDL-C management is a dynamic process and any associations between medication use and outcomes should account for these changes.

There is a need to however compare the results of this study with a more generalized sample because the data was obtained from a Medicare Managed Care Plan which focuses on physician education as well as patient adherence. Once this study is performed in another database with older adults, the generalizability will be well understood, and any difference in results will be able to identify if the practices in this health plan indeed benefit the patients and physician behavior or not.

Lastly in aim 3, this study identified the impact of treatment modifications on medication adherence and found that any modification including up-titration, down-titration and switching had a positive impact on patient adherence. The change in treatment could be viewed as an intervention. Constant monitoring has previously been shown to prevent decline in adherence which is generally seen with chronic medications over time. Regular patient monitoring can prevent the decline in adherence and also provide opportunities to ensure the patient is receiving appropriate treatment and care.

In summary:

- Older adults were more likely to be on a stable therapy but were receiving appropriate LLT and modifications in this health plan. Continued physician education can ensure that the physicians are updated with the guidelines and available therapies to treat the patients.
- Patients who were older and sicker were less likely to be up-titrated, while patients with risk factors, with prior down-titrations and high adherence were more likely to be up-titrated. Physicians were not indiscriminately up-titrating LLT in these patients. Older adults need additional considerations prior to treatment up-titration and aggressive lipid lowering in these patients requires caution.
- Patients who received treatment modifications had improvements in adherence reemphasizing the importance of monitoring even in patients who have been on stable LLT

for a long time and are not anticipated to have treatment changes. This could prevent the need for external interventions for patients to improve adherence and education.